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SECRETARY-TREASURER’S REPORT

The nineteenth annual meeting of the Society was held
in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Preston, on the evening
of November 6th, 1931.

Mr. D. N. Panabaker, the President, presided. In his
address he reviewed the work of the Society and then dealt
with matters of local history of peculiar interest many years
ago.

Dr. A. E. Byerly of Guelph, was the guest speaker of the
meeting. Dr. Byerly presented an excellent paper on Henry
William Peterson and his times. He made a strong appeal
incidentally for assistance in restoring and preserving the
" small pioneer cemeteries throughout the country.

Mrs. John Goldie, Waterloo, read a paper on Waterloo
Pioneers’ Furniture.

Lieut.-Col. E. G. Barrie, Officer Commanding Scots
Fusiliers, Kitchener, gave a sketch from the historical records
of the militia in North Waterloo as compiled by that regiment.

Grateful acknowledgment was made of the assistance
of the Education Department in printing the Annual Report
as in former years, and also of the assistance of the Kitchener
Public Library Board in providing quarters for our Museum.

Additional cases have been purchased during the year to
hold newspaper files and other objects. The County newspapers
have been bound and added to our collection.

The Society placed on record its sense of loss through
the passing of Rev. J. E. Lynn, who had filled the office of
Vice-President for a number of years.

The election of the Officers for 1932 resulted as follows:

President D. N. Panabaker
Vice-President H. W. Brown, B.A.
Secretary-Treasurer P. Fisher
Local Vice-Presidents:—
Kitchener C. W. Cressman
Galt J. E. Kerr
Waterloo Dr. C. W. Wells
Hespeler : Anson Groh
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Preston wF. R, Shantz (deceased)

D114 3 o Geo. Klinck
New Hamburg A. R. G. Smith
Ayr Miss E. D. Watson
St. Jacobs . W. H. Winkler

Members of the Council:

W. H. Breithaupt, W. V. Uttley, W. J. Motz, Miss B. M
Dunham, B.A.

Museum and Publication Committee:
W. H. Breithaupt, Miss B. M. Dunham, B.A., W. J. Motz.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR 1931

RECEIPTS:

Balance on hand at Jan. 1st, 1931 $391.54
Members’ Fees $67.50
Sales of Reports, 8.40

Bank Interest 10.65 .

Grants: City of Kitchener........rieciericon 50.00
County of Waterloo.........rrrinns 75.00
City of Galt.... 25.00
Town of Waterloo 15.00
Town of Hespeler........cesicsern 20.00

271.55

$662.99

DISBURSEMENTS:

Binding..... $84.25
Postage...... 20.28
Display Cases 158.97
Caretaker and Curator 32.25
Printing 10.40
Sundry 51.25

357.40

Balance..... $305. 59

Audited and found correct.

(Signed) J. H. WUEST, Auditor.
P. FISHER, Secretary-Treasurer.
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PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS

Ladies and Gentlemen:—

The coming of another Annual Meeting prompts a glance
backward, over the events of the year.

The purpose to which this Society endeavors particularly
to devote its efforts is the recording of important events, in
our County of Waterloo.

The current year has, perhaps, no particularly outstanding
matter of local prominence to note, but if we were exercising
our powers of observation fully I do not doubt the details
of growth and change in many of the enterprises of our people
would be well worth the space and effort required to register
them. :

In educational matters distinct progress might be noted.
1 believe an encouraging feature of the present time is the
number of people, not only the young, who are attending our
evening classes in the various urban communities, taking up
lines of study which these night classes include in their optional
subjects.

In the field of art, Waterloo County has been adding to
its laurels. Among other achievements it is worthy of note
that the Dow prize for the best oil painting at the exhibition
in Montreal of The Montreal Art Association was won last
year by a young artist* a native of Hespeler, and still a resident
of this County.

It is not the historian’s prerogative to moralize, but the
lesson brought home to all of us in the recent trying period
is that one thing greatly to be desired is the opportunity to
work. Many have discovered that there is truth as well as
poetry in Shakespeare’s lines—

“If all the year were playing holidays
To sport would be as tedious as to work.”

Compared with many other sections, I believe this County
has not suffered so acutely from the widespread depression,
but one of the more serious aspects of the past year’s situation
has been the extremely low prices realized by farmers for their
products. The consumers in urban communities, on the other
hand, have undoubtedly found that the pressure of circum-
stances has been lessened by the lower prices for many
commodities.

#Frank S. Panabaker, of Hespeler.—Editors.
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However the very low prices at the source of production
have not been by any means fully reflected in the final or retail
market in many lines, notably so in meat and similar products,
and I think the retail purchaser of boots and shoes and many
other articles of wear will have difficulty in tracing any close
relationship between the prices of these articles and the current
prices received by the local producers for the raw materials
from which the articles are made, such as—

Wool, free of rejects....7 cents per lb.

Calf Skins 4 to 5 cents per lb.
Cow Hides......ere 1 cents per Ib.

Horse Hides.. 50 cents to $1.25 each.
Tallow.......ooorn 1} to 2 cents per lb.

Sheep Skin Pelts.........

Fortunately the harvests in this section have been abundant
in most cases. A very hot week or ten days, shortly before
harvest time for coarse grains, reduced the yield in oats, barley,
etc., but it is true, I think, that the corn and root crops have
not been excelled in a score or more of years. Potatoes are
so plentiful that upon the fields prices as low as fifteen cents
or less per bag, have not been uncommon during the past few
weeks. Farmers in my section have told me that never before
in all their experience have their crops of potatoes been so
heavy.

10 to 15 cents each.

Now a word or two regarding the work of this Society
in the current year must suffice.

I tender appreciative thanks to all my associates on the
Executive Council for their continued co-operation, and we
are all again under obligation to the Secretary who amid
the pressure of a busy life, has unstintingly given of his time
to our work.

We are grateful for the very practical type of assistance
received from the Ontario Government—Firstly, in that the
printing of our Annual Report for the last year has been pro-
vided by the Department of Education and—Secondly, that
the Department of Highways has seen fit to co-operate with
the Council of Waterloo Township in assuming the cost of
constructing and maintaining a new direct roadway from the
old Huron Road to the Pioneers’ Memorial Plot, opposite
Doon on the Grand River. The hearty activity of the Town-
ship Council in furthering this enterprise is sincerely appreciated.

The official opening of this new road was marked by a
public gathering held at the Pioneers’ Monument on Saturday
afternoon Oct. 10th, 1931, Reeve 1. C. Hallman of Waterloo
Township being present to declare the road open. At this
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meeting, which was held under the auspices of The Waterloo
Pioneers’ Memorial Association, a subsidiary of this Historical
Society, impressive addresses were given by Hon. W. D. Euler,
M.P. of North Waterloo; Hon. W. G. Martin, Provincial
Minister of Public Welfare, and Bishop C. F. Derstine of
Kitchener.

The financial support received from The Waterloo County
Council and from the Cities of Kitchener and Galt, as well
as the Grants from the Municipalities of Hespeler and Waterloo
are gratefully acknowledged.

We are pleased to believe that the general public is taking
a greater interest in the activities of the Waterloo Historical
Society and we extend a hearty invitation to all who have
not previously identified themselves with this very interesting
work to join the organization as members. $10.00 is the life
membership fee, while the yearly fee for those who desire to
be annual members is 50 cents for ladies and $1.00 for men.
Membership includes without extra cost the right to receive
the annual printed reports of the Society.

I shall not take more of your time on this occasion and
will conclude by saying that I have in preparation a paper
which I'hope to have ready for publication in the next Annual
Report on the subject, “The Pastimes of the Pennsylvania
Dutch of the Rural Communities of Waterloo County,” back
in the seventies and eighties, as gleaned from my own memory
of those days.

D. N. PANABAKER.



PASTIMES AMONG THE PENNSYLVANIA DUTCH
IN WATERLOO

(Gleaned from my memory of Farm-life in the 70's and 80’s.)

While recollections of my farm-life, fifty or more years
ago may scarcely be submitted as matters of history, they
may possibly serve as a delineation of a type of life, which was,
I believe, fairly representative of those times, in the homes
of the Pennsylvania Dutch families of this Township.

May 1 first speak of the activities of childhood in those
times, keeping in mind this—that of no people nor perhaps
of other times would it be more applicable to say—that the
children and their elders largely participated in the same
pastimes.

A child in those days was rarely a companionless member
of his parents’ household. He might be the Alpha of the family
—although being the first born, profited him little with regard
to any supremacy in social standing or family patronage in
his later years,—or he might be fortunate enough to be farther
along the scale or even be the Omega in a long list of children.
Families of from ten to sixteen or more children were not un-
common in those times.

Children in such families were not fed long on the bread
of idleness, but the daily routine included a fair share of play
as well as suitable work. If Pennsylvania Dutch families
have been above the average in thrift and industry it is partly
attributable to this blending of work and play in rational
proportions, in the habit-forming period of childhood.

In this attempt to outline what formed the pastimes of
these people, examples of the Pennsylvania Dutch Nursery
Rhymes afford a starting point. These were many and in a
book entitled “The Folklore of The Pennsylvania Germans'’
by Rev. John Baer Stoudt, published in 1916, by Wm. ]J.
Campbell, Philadelphia, a somewhat complete list of their
Nursery Rhymes is found. 1 shall only mention those familiar
to me in my own childhood.

Perhaps the chief delight of the very young was to ‘‘Reite,
Reite, Gaeuli” -on father's or grandfather’s foot or knee. It
was strenuous exercise for mother or grandmother to gratify
a good lump of a child with this type of amusement, but I
well remember my mother repeating these old rhymes while
she acceded to a child’s demand to have “‘a ride.”

Three of the rhymes follow:

1. Reite, Reite, Gaeuli,
Alle Stund e Meili,
Alle Meil e Wertzhaus
Bring em Dawdy en Bretzel raus.
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2. Tross, tross trill
Der Bauer hot en Fuell
Es Fuell will net laafe,
Der Bauer will’s verkaafe,
Es Fuell springt aweg
Der Bauer ligt im Dreck.

and 3. —the German equivalent to ‘‘Pat-a-cake,
Pat-a-cake.”

Backa, Backa, Kuche,

Der Baecker hat gerufe,
Wer will gute Kuche backe
Der muss hawe sieve Sacha.

Passing to the games played by older children, I recall
some interesting games, suitable for indoors in the long, old-
fashioned rooms which served as kitchen, dining room and
largely as the lxvmg room. Some were even more suitable
for out-of-doors in summer.

“Buttony, buttony, so high” was a favorite indoor game,
which children of all ages enjoyed, and played together. ‘‘Cat
in the corner’” was another and among others might be men-
tioned—*‘Blind Man’s Buff,” ‘“Ring, Ring a Rosey,” “Drop
the Handkerchief,” ‘“Here We go Round the Mulberry Bush,”
““Here We Come Gathering Nuts in May,” “Old Black Tom,”
and “Hide and Seek.” In these mentioned, and in several
others action accompanied the rhymes or ‘‘counting out”
words were employed.

Other indoor pastimes for older children, of a more
utilitarian nature, were knitting, spool-work, and other types
of hand work such as winding yard from skeins into balls ready
for knitting, sewing carpet rags end to end, ready for the hand
loom weaver, etc., while smaller children again were taught

games with string, among which were ‘‘cat’s cradle,” ‘‘see-
saw,” etc.

I shall pass over the songs for children and the home,
which were quite numerous. At some future time I may have
opportunity to refer to them.

Outdoor sports for boys, in which the girls often joined,
included baseball. Balls made out of yarn ravelled from old
socks and stockings were commonly used. Another game
was “Tickley, Tickley Over” in which the roofs of the old
smoke house or outdoor bake-oven were usually employed
a'?id over which the ball was thrown alternately by the opposing
sides.
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-In the winter time snow balling was popular, particularly
when conditions were favorable for the erection of forts of snow.
Sleigh-riding and skating were common and greatly enjoyed.

Speaking of skating recalls to mind the old-fashioned
skates of sixty years ago, shaped wooden blocks, in lengths to
suit the wearer, in which were inserted steel or iron blades.
These were fastened to the shoes of the skater with a nail
screwed into the centre of the heel while two leather straps,
one at the heel and another over the front part of the foot
kept the blocks in place. A little later cast-iron skates came
upon the market. They were not much of an improvement.
Then came what were called club-skates, with more reliable
types of clamps to fasten them to the boots, and about the
same time appeared other steel skates called spring skates
which, until the advent of what are now known as hockey
skates, were almost exclusively used locally.

Indoor skating was scarcely thought of hereabouts in
those days, but in the later eighties roller skating rinks were
erected in some of the villages and towns. They were quite
popular for a time, but gradually petered out, due perhaps to
the noise and dust attending such indoor sport.

Playthings were home-made for the most part. For indoors
the following were familiar to me.

A circular piece of paper of stiff quality, cut with a pair
of scissors in a spiral or serpentine shape to encircle a slender
wooden rod placed vertically above a heated stove. With
the upper end of the strip held with a pin to the top end of the
rod and the rest of the paper hanging free, the heat waves
ascending would cause the paper. to rotate.

A roughly formed figure of a man placed at the end of a
table. From its rigidly extended arms was hung an imitation
saw, made of wood, on the lower end of which was stuck an
apple. A string encircling man and saw held the latter at an
angle which made a balance so that the downpull of the weight
kept the man erect on the table. A light touch to the apple
then made the man sway to and fro, and gave the saw an
appearance of being drawn up and down.

Wooden spinning tops made of empty thread spools.

Cleft pieces of cedar, not split their entire length, which
would spring open widely enough to allow a short piece of wood
to be inserted lengthwise between the open jaws which were
employed as harmless weapons or guns. When the split holder
was given a sudden blow with the hand or upon another firm
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object the missile would be sprung from its place and thrown
some distance.

The goose quill potato shooter which was not popular
with the girls upon whom it was often turned, a pellet of sliced
potato ejected from the quill under air pressure not being a
pleasant manner in which to get potato rations.

Pop guns formed of alder limbs with the pith removed,
which when supplied with wooden plungers would throw their
contents of water some little distance.

The bow and arrow amused the younger boys. An advanced
use was to attach the bow to a wooden stick, formed in the
shape of a shot gun. This was called a cross-bow gun..

But the ambitious lad was never content until he was
trusted with a real shot gun, in those times a muzzle loader,
in the use of which the ram rod was as important as the gun
itself. Personally I did not reach the eligible age to handle
a shot gun, until the last of the great flocks of wild pigeons
had disappeared from our section of the country, but I remember
well my older brothers bringing home frequently a number of
the pigeons which they had shot in the nearby woods.

Let me close with a brief reference to the pastimes of the
grown-ups. All who were able to work usually followed the
biblical injunction to employ themselves six days in the week,
and indeed found many chores to do on Sunday also. They
did not spend much time thinking of ways of diversion. For
those who lived close to the rivers or larger streams, fishing
and boating afforded pleasurable pastimes on holidays, and when
work was not too pressing.

In the vicinity of which I am speaking, the Speed River
and Puslinch Lake, in the adjoining township, were attractive
resorts. The lake became quite a centre with a fairly large
equipment of row boats to rent, and at one time a small steamer
was employed, especially on public holidays, to convey holiday
makers to the island or on short trips. At this resort also
there was at one time a crude merry-go-round with arms
extending over the water’s edge to which were attached baskets
for carrying those who paid for the privilege. A horse hitched
near the centre of the device provided the power.

Occasionally the young people of the community came
together in small groups at the various homes to enjoy an
evening in social games, etc., particularly in the winter months.
Sometimes these evenings were spent at “paring bees,” in
which apples were pared or prepared for apple butter. Beside
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cake, fresh apple cider was plentifully served; anything stronger
was taboo.

Sunday, among the Pennsylvania Dutch, was largely
spent in social visiting. Several of the men and women, accom-
panied by the smaller children in their families, would congregate
at one of the homes near the meeting-house and after a -
bounteous repast would pass the afternoon in conversation
upon topics of interest in the community. These conversations
occasionally developed into political discussions, but usually
were on less controversial topics.

Attendance at funerals, while not properly coming within
the scope of pastimes, may be referred to as of more than
ordinary significance. The family or home in which a member
had died invariably made large preparations to entertain man
neighbors and friends after the funeral. :

In all these social gatherings of the older people the con-
versation was frequently in Pennsylvania Dutch, but often
it would drift into English, especially if a younger member
should express his opinions. English was customarily used
by the young people in the sections where this was the language
of the public schools.

With regard to the attitude of the Pennsylvania Dutch
to the use of English in their Waterloo settlements, I think
that they had very little, if any, prejudice against its adoption
in their schools. Recognition of English as the language of
commerce and law was general. ‘‘Pennsylvania Dutch”
was employed in practically all religious services, and 1 believe
that the first settlers, or many of them, regarded it as very
desirable to be familiar with the Dutch or German dialect
which had become in their Pennsylvania environment con-
siderably adulterated with infusion of English. Some families
had practically abandoned the use of German before coming
to this country, but this was the exception rather than the rule.
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HENRY WILLIAM PETERSON
By A. E. Byerly, D.O.

In 1832, Berlin, now Kitchener, was only a dot on the
map of Ontario, but to this very small settlement came a man
who was destined to play no small part in the history of Ontario,
and of Canada. Yet his name is now almost unknown, and is
often confused with that of his son of the same name. The
man was Henry William Peterson. He published the first
newspaper in the German language in Canada at the village
of Berlin, and also printed the first books in the German
language in his little printing shop. These books are so rare
that writers such as Morgan, Scadding and Kingsford, who
many years ago compiled lists of early printed books and
newspapers in Canada, fail even to mention them.

There is no mention of Peterson’s newspaper. The
Archives of Canada have no copies of the fine little
books printed by him in Berlin as early as 1836. Almost all
the books printed in his shop seem to have disappeared. Only
a half dozen or so have come to light, and these were mainly
found in his own library, purchased some time ago by the
writer. Their title pages have made an interesting addition
to the bibliography of early Canadian printed books.

The founder of the Peterson family in Canada was the
Rev. John Dieter Peterson, born in Bremen, Germany, November
23rd, 1756. His parents were John Dieter Peterson and Anna
Hencken Peterson. She died March 4th, 1773, and in December
of the same year the father married Gesche Marie Bruning.

On June 19th, 1770, young Peterson started to attend
Sunday school, the pastor being a man named Olbers. In
1772 Olbers died, and from his successor Mr. Klee, John re-
ceived on May 27th, 1773, his first communion. On April
14th, 1772, he finished his German schooling, being then 15
years, 4 months and 3 weeks old. On August 24th, 1772, he
started his apprenticeship in the printing trade, and remained
at it until August 14th, 1773. On Feb. 22, 1774, he left home
for the first time, going to Quakenbrueck where he worked
for W. F. Witte. At Quakenbrueck he married Helen Margaret
Laneman, on March 1st, 1781. She was born in September
1748. Her father was the Rev. Henry Laneman, Rector at
Quakenbrueck. Two children were born to this union. The
first child was named Anna Henrietta, and the second, John
Henry Anthon. (Anna married in the spring of 1803, Jacob
Burckhardt, Jr., of Allegheny, Pa. The son was killed near
Baltimore, Maryland in 1796, by the upsetting of a wagon.)
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In 1789, Peterson’s wife died. She had been in ill health
for several years. On November 19th of the same year he
married Julianna Sophia Amelia Von Borck at Quakenbrueck.
She was born the 23rd of November 1770, in Minden, Prussia,
her father being a general in the Prussian army and a dis-
tinguished soldier.

On June 1st, 1795, John Dieter Peterson, with his second
wife and several children, left Germany for America. They
arrived at Baltimore, Maryland, Aug. 29th, 1795. The day
was Sunday and many people visited the ship to obtain news
from the homeland. The passengers were obliged to stay
on board for several days until their baggage was unloaded.

When they finally reached shore, the Petersons started
a long hunt for a home in the town. Houses were hard to find
and rent was high. At last near Howard’s Hill, a house was
found at eight pounds a month. Here they stayed for two
months, and then moved to another place on the same street
at sixty pounds yearly rent. This place had been a tavern,
and apparently was not a very satisfactory residence for in
three months the family moved to Gay street where the rent
was 100 pounds yearly. Even this house was a poor affair
and not worth more than 25 pounds yearly. They stayed in
it three months and on Good Friday, 1796, left Baltimore
to go l42 miles farther on in York County, to a place called
Bluball.

A distressing incident occurred just as they were out-
side the city. Through the carelessness of the driver, the
wagon on which the elder son (John Henry Anthon) and elder
daughter were riding upset and the son was instantly killed.
The driver, who had been hired to convey the family, insisted
on going on, and the body was left with friends for burial next
day in Baltimore. This was a sad beginning in the new land,
but hardships and sorrow were met with a courage common
to those days of pioneering.

The Petersons lived near Bluball for three years, and in
October of 1799, they moved 170 miles to the County of Kleets
where their home was an old school house. Here on Sundays
they conducted Sunday school and the father commenced
to preach. A man named Bahse took an interest in his preaching
and the following year obtained for him a parish at Torquefoot.
In the fall of that year they moved to Allegheny, Pa. where
he served congregations at Torquefoot, Springers, Feths, Wills
Creek, and Fort Cumberland. The churches were far apart,
the roads bad and the pay very low. So Peterson left, having

accepted a call to Harrisburg, Dauphin County, Pa. He arrived
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at Harrisburg in March, 1803. I have the ritual of service he
used at this and other places. In it he has recorded births,
baptisms and several marriages.

In 1809, Peterson purchased 490 acres and a mill in
Allegheny Township, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. The
cost of his property was 552 pounds and 10 shillings. While
the purchase was made in November of 1809, the Petersons
were not to get possession until the next year.

On June 19th, 1810, a Tuesday evening, at the close of
a ministerial gathering or conference held at Harrisburg, Pa.,
Peterson, along with men by the name of Knosky and Walter,
was solemnly ordained as a minister in the presence of a large
congregation. The ceremony was performed by Dr. Henry
Muehlenburg, president of the conference, Dr Helmuth, Sr.
and Pastor Shaefer. It was a striking event in the life of this
German immigrant. Trained as a printer, with only a common
school education, in his native land, he had by persistence
overcome the handicaps in his way, and, trusting in Him whom
he loved, at last reached the full bloom of a servant of God.

In August 1810, Rev. John D. Peterson, his wife and
daughter Amelia, left Harrisburg for their new home in Somer-
set County, Pa. Little is known of his life during the next
nine years. It was spent on the extensive property in Somerset -
County, and no doubt he preached in the neighboring parishes.
It was here that some of his children married, and had children
of their own.

On Feb. 1st, 1819, three brothers, John, Jacob and Valentine
Fisher, arrived at the Peterson home in Somerset County
from York County, Ontario. They were desirous of having
the Petersons go to Canada where was a fine settlement of
German people in Markham and Vaughan townships, north
of the town of York, now Toronto. They needed a minister
and so had sent to Pennsylvania for Peterson. The Petersons
left on Feb. 10th, 1819, and arrived March 1st, in Vaughan
township. Here they made their home with Valentine Fisher
until September 21st, 1819, when they bought 50 acres in
Markham township from Mr. Wilmot for $160. On this land
they later built a new house. '

Two years later the Lutheran folk decided to build churches.
They were now a thriving community. The first church was
built in Vaughan township, the second on the George Schulz
land in Markham township, and the third on Phil. Eckhardt’s
farm. These three were the first Lutheran churches in that
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part of Ontario. They were served by Mr. Peterson as pastor
until 1827 when he resigned.

In the congregation in Vaughan township, Peterson found
the minister’s life none too pleasant. One of the leading mem-
bers, Michael Keffer, disappointed that the building com-
mittee did not follow his advice, blamed the minister although
the committee assured him -that the latter had in no way
influenced them. Keffer was a wealthy man and had con-
siderable influence. The result was that some took sides with
him and some with the minister. After a dispute over new
rules for the church, Peterson resigned from the Vaughan church
in September 1827. He had served from March 1819, but had
received very little pay from the congregation, as contention
had caused many to leave. Keffer later went to the Church
of England, to which denomination he had given the land
for its first church. '

Mr. Peterson continued to serve other congregations in
the district until old age forced his retirement. He died in
Markham, Jan. 18th, 1848, at the age of 91 years, 1 month,
3 weeks and 3 days. He was spoken of as an humble and sincere
Christian, a most affectionate and indulgent husband and
father, a sincere friend and an able preacher. He was buried
on the 21st of January, the sermon being preached by Rev.
P. V. Mayhoffer of the Church of England.

The widow was a kindly woman who loved her family,
all of whom were an honour to her. Her father General Von
Borck, was a nobleman, a member of a leading Prussian
family. She died at Markham, Feb. 5th, 1852, aged 82 years.

By his first wife, Rev. John Peterson had two children.
The son, as stated, was killed near Baltimore. The daughter
(Anna Henrietta) married Jacob Burckhardt, Jr., in Somerset
County, Pa. Several children by the second wife died in
infancy. Those who attained to mature years were, Henry
William, the subject of this sketch, Philip Frederick, Charles
Lewis, J. Henry, Julianna, Mary Ann or Anna Maria and
Amelia.

Of these children, Philip Frederick was born May 16th,
1791, and on May 1st, 1828 was married to Eliza Fierheller
in Markham, Canada. He died in Markham township in 1880.
In 1831 he had purchased lot 19, concession 6, in Markham.
He was survived by three daughters, and one son John. This
son lived for many years on the old homestead with his sisters,
Rebecca, Betsy and Matilda. No member of: this family bearing
the name of Peterson now lives in Markham or Vaughan.
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J. Henry Peterson died at Markham, Ontario, on the 8th
of May, 1848, in the 46th year of his age. He was born in
Allegheny, Pa., July 16th, 1802.

Mary Ann, the youngest daughter, was born in Somerset
County, Pa., September 19th, 1812. She married a man named
Spies, and on December, 28th, 1839, their son John Dietrich
was born in York County, Ontario.

Julianna was born in Harrisburg, Pa., Aug. 3rd, 1804,
and was married at Markham to John Fierheller, Feb. 21st,
1826. They had a son John William, born the 27th of November,
1827. The mother died that evening and was buried on the
30th in the cemetery at Eckhards, north of Toronto.

Amelia was born Jan. 24th, 1810, at Harrisburg, Pa.
1 have not succeeded so far in obtaining any information in
regard to her, although no doubt she had come with the family
to Canada. :

Charles Lewis Peterson was born in Baltimore, Maryland,
September 29th, 1795, just a month after his parents had arrived
in that city. He was married to Theresa Boyer of Baltimore,
Maryland.  In 1826 they settled in Markham township, On-
tario, where his father had gone in 1819. In 1835 he moved
to Berlin where his brother Henry William had settled in
1832. In 1839 the family went to a farm about one mile from
St. Jacobs, and about five years afterwards settled on the home-
stead property on the Conestogo River, Township of Woolwich.
He died at Wellesley, Waterloo County, Jan. 17th, 1876,
aged eighty years. Many of his descendants still live in Waterloo
County and have been active in its history. His family con-
sisted of Henry William, Andrew Jackson, Mary Ann, Julianna,
Louisa, Charlotte, Joseph and Harriett.

Of the children of Charles Lewis Peterson, Henry Lewis
was the oldest. He was born in Somerset County, Pa., March
6th, 1822, and died at Hawkesville, Waterloo County, August
20th, 1913, having attained to the great age of ninety-one.
He was one of the last surviving pioneers of the early days of
the County. He had married Fanny Bristow who died in 1893.
In their family a son, Alexander, married Elizabeth Snider,
and after her death married his cousin, Margaret Peterson
of Guelph. James is living in Cayuga and has four sons and two
daughters. Hannah is unmarried. John lives at St. Clements,
is married and has two children. Henry lives in Toronto and
has two children living, one being Clayton Peterson of Kitch-
ener. Charlotte married C. D. Bowman a well-known resident
of Waterloo county and they.live near West Montrose and
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have children, Edgar, Edith, Hilda, Lida, Stella, Howard
and Ruth. Charles the last child of Henry Peterson is living
in Hamilton and has one son.

Andrew Jackson, the second child of Charles Lewis and
Theresa Boyer Peterson, was born Dec. 12th, 1823, in Somerset
County, Pa. and came with his parents to Berlin where he
lived and died. He was apprenticed to his uncle, Henry
William, in the printing business in Berlin in 1835, later lived
in Guelph, taught school in Waterloo County, and held several
public offices. He married and the family consisted of Julia;
Rebecca who married Robert Smyth, a well-known former
merchant of Kitchener who is still living there and has two sons,
R. J. and William; Elora; Charles Lewis; Dr. Henry; Dr. David
William, and Andrew ].

Mary Ann the third child of Charles Peterson married
Wm. Cornell. They had several children of whom only Silas
is now living.

The fourth child was Louisa who married C. Connor
and they had two children who live in Michigan.

Charlotte, the fifth of the family married Ebenezer Wood-:

ward. They have a son, Dr. Woodward, living in Detroit.
Joseph lived most of his life in Kansas, where he died.

Harriett, the youngest child of Charles Lewis married B.
Cornell but is now dead.

HENRY WILLIAM PETERSON

Henry William Peterson, distinguished as the publisher
of the first German newspaper in Canada, was born at Quaken-
brueck, Germany, May 27th, 1793. He was two years of age
when his parents moved to Baltimore, Maryland, and he
was educated in the schools of Pennsylvania.

He received a deep religious training, and from his youth
took an active interest in spreading the Gospel. He also had
a literary trend and at an early age entered newspaper work.
When only 21 years old, he founded one of the first German
newspapers in America. It was published from his print shop
in Carlisle, Pa. This paper was called “The German Liberty
Flag” and ran from August 27th, 1814 to March 25th, 1817.
The only volumes of this paper are now in the University
of New York. They are a fine example of printing equal or
better than that produced by printers with years of experience.

In or about the year 1824, Peterson came to Canada to
see his parents and look over the country. He could not keep
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out of the printing trade and assisted his old friend Mr. Gurnett,
in the publication of the “Gore Gazette” at Ancaster, then a
town of much more importance than Hamilton.

On June 9th, 1825, he was married at Wilmington, Delaware,
to Miss Hannah Ann Hendrickson. About the same time he
started a printing shop in Dover, Delaware. Here he published
for a session or two the “Legislative Reporter.” TIn June 1830,
he began the publication of “The Christian Magazine,” an un-
denominational journal. These papers were in the English
language. Six issues of the ‘‘Christian Magazine” appeared
but for want of support it was discontinued. While publishing
this paper, Peterson’s young wife died and the only account
of her death appears in the second number of his little magazine.
She died in Dover, Saturday, June 26th, 1830, aged 23 years,
9 months and 26 days. She left one daughter who in later
years married A. M. Jackson, who 75 years ago was a well-
known resident of Guelph. Mr. Peterson spoke very feelingly
of his wife and wrote a poem to her memory, which he pub-
lished in “The Christian Magazine.” :

On Feb. 12th, 1831, Mr. Peterson married at Dover,
Delaware, Mrs. Harriett Middleton Clayton Douglas. She
was the widow of Walter Douglas, and was born May 6th,
1798 at Dagsboro, Sussex County, Delaware. Her parents
were Mr. and Mrs. James Clayton, leading residents of that
community. Her father was descended from one of the most
noted families of colonial days. His great grandfather was
Joshua Clayton who was said to have come to Pennsylvania
with William Penn and his sons and located in Kent County,
Delaware as early as 1695. Mrs. Douglas was a woman of rare
ability, and made Mr. Peterson a devoted wife. By her first
husband she had three children one, Harriett, dying in youth.
The others were Margaret Ann and James Clayton Douglas.
Margaret married Joseph P. Comegys, a son of C. P. Comegys,
Governor of Delaware. He became one of the leading jurists
of America, and Chief Justice of his State. One child of this
union who survived until 1928 was Harriett Comegys of Dover,
Delaware. In her declining years she was cared for by Mar-
garet Peterson, of Guelph, Ontario, her niece, the grand-
daughter of Henry William Peterson.

James Douglas had two children, one of whom married
Francis Buck of Delaware, and their son is now Governor
of that State, and is married to a daughter of Coleman DuPont.

Mrs. Peterson was a sister of John M. Clayton, one of the
most beloved men of America, one of its great orators and
statesmen. He was for many years a United States Senator,
serving with Webster, Clay, Calhoun and Benton with whom
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he ranked as an equal. He was Secretary of State of the United
States under President Taylor, and was joint author of the
Clayton-Bulwer treaty, between the United States and Great
Britain. His life was greatly saddened by the early death of
his wife, and both his sons died as promising young men, leaving
the father alone. Thus he took a kindly interest in relatives,
and was ever a close friend and adviser of his brother-in-law,
Henry William Peterson, and his son, Henry William, Jr.

After the marriage of Henry William Peterson to Mrs.
Douglas, they came to Canada, going to his father’s home in
Markham township, York County. It was there that Henry
William, their son was born, Dec. 13th, 1831.

Henry William Peterson, Sr., is believed to have made
his first visit to Waterloo township in November of 1832. He
came to look over the German settlement and to minister to
the people of the Lutheran faith, those of the Mennonite
following being under the care of Bishop Eby. He made the
difficulty journey from York on horse back and on his arrival
was made welcome by the German settlers. On Sunday,
November 18th, 1832, he recorded the following, ‘‘Stayed all
day at Benjamin Eby’s, went with him and his family to the
meeting or church. He prayed and preached well. He is
Bishop of the Mennonite Society of Waterloo. He is a good
man.” .

Peterson’s first burial service was at Berlin, August 8th,
1833, over the remains of Susan Bettschen who was buried in
the new burying ground, where he had founded the church.
Here also was buried Harriett Peterson, his own little daughter.
She was born at Berlin, Waterloo township, August 28th, 1834,
and died October 1st, the same year. Her death was a sad
blow to the parents who so dearly loved their children. Henry
William now became their idol and many are the written words
of love and affection recorded by the parents with regard to
him.

Mrs. Peterson came to Berlin shortly after her husband
but as it was difficult to find a dwelling place, they suffered
considerable inconvenience. They were very poor. Young
Peterson had been making his own way in life for many years,
and his printing ventures had not been a success as far as making
money was concerned. The new conditions under which they
lived at Berlin must have been very trying to Mrs. Peterson.
Reared in luxury and comfort, amidst the aristocracy of Mary-
land, she was now living in about as primitive a condition
as could be found. But history tells us that she met every
difficulty with courage and cheerfulness, and proved to be a

257



worthy mate for the young pioneer settler. Mr. Peterson,
though not ordained as a minister, was a true follower of God
and a worthy son of his father, the minister at Markham. I
have Mrs. Peterson’s New Testament, and on the fly leaf is
written by her son the following, “This was my dear Mother’s
Testament, and to my knowledge always faithfully and con-
stantly read, her constant companion. Her last words
evidenced the peacefulness of a life always that of a true
Christian.”

It was natural that Mr. Peterson should drift into his old
profession or trade, that of a printer. But what a small place
to start in! Berlin was then only a tiny settlement, without a
post office, and its stores very small indeed. Yet the community
consisted of an industrious people, hardy, thrifty Pennsylvania
Dutch, whose farms to this day bear evidence of the ability
of their founders. In 1831 Adam Fergusson, the founder of
Fergus, who travelled through the German settlements, writes
of the fine farms he saw and noted what an industrious people
he found. This was the class and type of people Henry William
Peterson chose to serve, and as early as 1835 he established a
printing shop in Berlin. In his venture he had the help of
many settlers as is shown in the first issue of the newspaper,
which appeared August 27th, 1835 and in which Mr. Peterson-
writes the following, “I owe it to you in the first issue of this
paper to make known who were my friends in establishing this
printing office. I have only time now to say that I am very
thankful to all my good friends and real supporters. I owe
thanks in particular to Benjamin Eby and Jacob S. Schumacher.
Below I give the list of subscriptions and the names of my
supporters.” Then followed a long list of names, pioneer
settlers of Waterloo who were generous in their support of
Peterson. Their proposition was as follows, “It is the general
and hearty wish of the German people in Upper Canada that
a German paper and German books be printed in this country
and since there is an opportunity to attain this and the printer
has no means himself, the undersigned offer to provide the
printing office. Each one of us who pays $20 will receive one
share. All shareholders give their money for five years without
interest. If Peterson, the printer, wants to become owner of
the printing office after five years he may do so by returning
the money which we are providing. Each year he must give
us $2 in return and whatever is not paid after five years is
subject to interest.”

This was the beginning of the first newspaper in the German
language in Canada. The long list of subscribers to the above .
document testifies to the intelligence of the German people
and their desire to have newspapers and books -in their own
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tongue. If the neighboring English communities had had as

‘many enterprising settlers they would have had newspapers

long before they did. In the first issue of the newspaper Mr.
Peterson describes the village as follows, ““The town of Berlin
is located in the centre of Waterloo Township which is thickly
settled with German farmers who came many years ago from
Pennsylvania. Berlin is in a flourishing condition with all
kinds of diligent tradesmen. among them a maker of spinning
wheels and chairs, a hat maker, four cabinet makers and car-
penters, one blacksmith, three storekeepers, two shoemakers,
one weaver, one tailor, one mason, one wagon-maker, one
hotel-keeper, one doctor. There are to-day 25 dwellings. The
large hotel erected by Frederick Gaukel is very noteworthy.”

The printing press used by Peterson was brought from
Pennsylvania by oxen. The first printing done on it at Berlin
and still in existence is an announcement sheet dated 8th of
August, 1835. It is the oldest existing printing done in British
North America in the German language. It announces that
church services will be held by the Rev. John Bernheim at
Berlin, August 9th; at Tromps, Sunday, August 16th;
Wilmot, that afternoon; Aug. 19th in Berlin; Aug. 23rd in
Berlin and also at Hilborn’s Meeting House, August 30th, in
Preston in the morning and in the afternoon at Berlin.

On August 27th, 1835, the first number of the newspaper,
“The Canada Museum’ appeared at Berlin from Peterson’s
newly established printing shop. It was the first German news-
paper in Canada. It is fortunate that a complete set of the
issues of this newspaper is in existence. There are two volumes
of the first year, the writer owns volumes number two and
three, while four and five are owned by relatives. These are
the only known volumes and they are an example of beautiful
workmanship. They show an able editorship, not surpassed
in any of the English Canadian papers of that day.

Mr. Peterson had associated with him for a time in the
publishing of his paper, Mr. Christian Enslin, who became a
well-known man in Waterloo County. Mr. Enslin had come
to Berlin in 1833 where he died March 30th, 1856. He also
established a bookbindery in Berlin, and, after Mr. Peterson
sold out to Henry Eby, who learned the trade in his shop, Mr.
Enslin edited the paper then started by Mr. Eby.

The first book in the German language printed in Canada
was compiled and published by Mr. Peterson. It was a collection
of songs or hymns for the Christian people of Berlin and district.
It is dated the 24th of September, 1836, and is called the first
edition. A very fine copy of this book is now in my possession,
and so far as can be ascertained is the only copy known. It
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was Mr. Peterson’s personal copy and is inscribed with -his
name. The second edition of this book appeared in Berlin
by the same printer in 1838. He also published other books
of a religious nature, only a few copies now being known. A
very great rarity printed by Peterson is an almanac, issued in
the years 1838, 1839 and 1840. Copies are now in my possession
and contain in addition personal notes by the printer, Mr.
Peterson. No other copies of these almanacs are known to be
in existence.

Some of the notes in these almanacs in Mr. Peterson’s
hand writing are as follows:

March 20th, 1838—Mr. John Dobbin discontinued school.
August 29th, 1838—My dear Harriet left Berlin for Dundas.

September 1st, 1838—My dear Harriett left Dundas for
Toronto on her journey to Dover. Sailed from Toronto in
the Commodore Barrie.

September 7th, 1838—My dear Harriett arrived at Dover.

November 7th, 1838—My dear wife returned from Dover,
Del., this evening—safe—thank the Lord.

April 6th, 1839—Received today 104 signers to a petition
praying for a County Registry in Berlin.

April 17th, 1839—Jonas Eby began my wood house, on
Wednesday at noon. Price $13.

May 27th, 1839—Received a white cow calf named Milky
from Samuel Shantz. The calf aged about 5 weeks.

On Saturday, June 15th, 1839, Andrew Jackson Peterson
arrived at Berlin, U. C. He will be 16 years old on the 12th
day of Dec. 1839.

Saturday, July 27th, 1839—Henry B. Eby, became free
from his apprenticeship to me.

- Monday, August 19th, 1839, Henry B. Eby went to Hamil-
ton to seek employment as a journeyman printer.

Monday, September 2nd. 1839—My son, H. William
P. for the first time alone, ‘“carried out” my paper, The
Canada Museum, No. 34, Vol. 4.

Friday, Oct. 11th, 1839—Our son William became exceeding-
ly ill—caught bilious fever, and continued ill for two weeks.

Sunday, Nov. 10th, 1839—This day our dear little son
William is so far recovered that he has gone to the German
Sunday school in Berlin. The day is fine.
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December 17th, 1840—Henry William Peterson joined
Methodist Meeting. On the 20th received a certificate.

This concludes his notes. Mr. Peterson was for many
years a prominent Methodist. His name was in the list of the
first pew-holders in the Norfolk street Methodist Church in
Guelph when it was opened in 1856. Although he died before
his subscription to the building fund became due, it was paid
by his son. In this same church and also a first pew-holder
was John McLean, the discoverer of the Grand Falls of Labrador
and a personal friend of both the Petersons, father and son.
‘He taught the son, Henry William, how to play chess.

Mr. Peterson worked hard while in Berlin to secure a post-
office for the village, and at last succeeded. He also led the
movement to give the district a magistrate, and in 1838 was
appointed the magistrate himself. He was thus one of the
earliest magistrates in the province and especially in the Western
District. He carefully recorded the deaths, births and baptisms
in the infant village and these constitute a valuable record -
to-day.

In 1838, the District of Wellington was set apart as a
separate district, comprising the present counties of Waterloo,
Wellington, Grey and part of Dufferin. After a contest between
Guelph, Galt and Fergus for the County seat, Guelph won out,
and in 1842 the first Council meeting was held there. Henry
William Peterson of Berlin was appointed the first Registrar,
and in 1843 moved to Guelph where he assumed the duties of
office. The old home was on Waterloo Avenue, only a block
from the Hamilton highway. This house is still standing and
is a very desirable residence. The Peterson home was in later
years a magnificent residence in beautiful grounds on Water
street. This was where all the early day records of Berlin be-
longing to its first publisher were preserved. ,

Henry William Peterson, Sr., was received into the Masonic
Order in 1821 at Mount Lebanon, Pa. His son also joined
the same order at St. Andrew’s Lodge, Toronto, 23rd of May,
1859.

Mr. Peterson’'s wife, formerly Harriett Clayton, died in
Guelph, April 18th, 1852, and was buried in the old cemetery
on the Square, but was later removed to the present cemetery
where she rests with her husband under a fine monument erected
by the son, Henry William Peterson. Mr. Peterson died in
Guelph on Sunday, June 12th, 1859. He had been taken ill
on the 30th of May of peritonitis, and was attended by Drs.
Howitt and Parker, but medical skill proved of no avail, and
one of the finest men of the Province passed away. He dearly
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loved his home and family. Life had been a long hard struggle
for him, beginning with the days of a printer’s “devil”’ and
ending at Guelph, where for a considerable number of years
he was blessed with more comforts than had been his lot in the
pioneer struggles in Pennsylvania, Maryland and Waterloo
township in Canada. It is indeed fitting that he should be
remembered on the 100th anniversary of his coming to Canada.
In December it is just a hundred years since his son Henry
William was born in Markham township, York County, Ontario,
the parents arriving there in 1831.

This son born on Dec. 15th, 1831 was named Henry William.
At an early age he assisted his father in his printing shop in
Berlin, Ont. After the family moved to Guelph, he attended
the first District Grammar School under A. C. Verner. He
attended Upper Canada College from 1846 to 1849 and was
one of its most brilliant pupils, winning many honors and
prizes. He established a law office in Guelph, and was for many
years in partnership under firm name of Lemon and Peterson.
He held the office of County Crown Attorney of Wellington
County for a long time, and was recognized as one of the ablest
lawyers of his day. Mr. Peterson served as Mayor of Guelph,
and for years was the leading member of the School Board.
He married Emma, daughter of Sheriff Grange of Guelph,
and to them were born, Douglas, William, Ellen, Clayton,
John and Margaret Peterson. Of these only three are now
living, Clayton in Toronto, John in Detroit, and Margaret in
Dover, Delaware. Mr. Peterson died in Guelph July 17th,
1913 in his eighty-third year. '

What a change there is to-day from the days of Henry
William Peterson! Then it took many hours to set up and print
a small newspaper and now modern devices make it a work of
a few. But the efforts of to-day are small in comparison with
the struggles and successes of a 100 years ago. Much better
it would be for many of us if we had to live under the self same
conditions to-day.
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WATERLOO PIONEERS’ FURNITURE
By Mrs. E. S. Sargeant and Mrs. John Goldie

The story of the taking up of land in Waterloo County
by settlers from Pennsylvania is so thoroughly familiar to
members of this society that is is unnecessary to reiterate it.
What furniture did these settlers bring? How did they set up
their simple households?

When an old farmhouse, particularly a Mennonite farm-
house, is broken up to-day there are certain almost inevitable
articles among the household effects — a kitchen dresser,
a drop leaf table, small pine chairs, pine rocking chairs with
and without arms, rope beds, pine blanket chests, pine, maple
and cherry chests of drawers, wool and heavy cotton woven
bedspreads.

These pieces resemble closely the early Pennsylvania
antiques.

The typical corner cupboard, or kitchen dresser — and one
finds many identical examples — is of a large type, about
four feet across the front, and about seven and a half feet high.
It generally comes in two pieces, the lower half with two
shallow drawers and two cupboards, the upper half a china
cupboard with two latticed glass doors, and heart shaped shelves
topped by a simple and well proportioned cornice. Mr. Emil
Quirmbach of Kitchener has a particularly well executed example
in cherry. The workmanship is beautiful, with every joint
dowelled and not a nail in the piece. This piece is at least a
hundred years old, and belonged to Mr. Quirmbach’s grand-
mother. It has all the characteristics mentioned except the
lattice. The marks on the side panels of the glass doors show
that the lattice, now unfortunately missing, was originally
there. Kitchen dressers of the straight type are much the same
in proportion and design as the corner cupboard, except that
in the straight type the lower cupboard usually protrudes
about six inches, making a dresser shelf beneath the china cup-
board. In this type the china cupcoard is about a foot deep,
the lower cupboard about a foot and a half. Both types of
kitchen dresser were generally made of pine, (often quaintly
painted in elaborate graining to imitate mahogany), occasionally
in cherry.

The drop leaf table of hardwood is usually cherry, later
ones with more elaborately turned legs are of walnut. These
tables when folded measure about 2 feet by 4 feet, with long
leaves, sometimes almost touching the floor. The leaves
are generally supported by an arm flush with the side of the
table when the leaves are down and revolving on a centre axis.
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Owing to these supports, the drop leaf table is generally with-
out a drawer. Occasional examples are found with an extra
swinging leg on each side instead of the arm. The legs are
tapering or slightly turned near the foot.

Pine chairs of a simple kitchen type come in a variety of
charming designs, painted black with gilt or floral trimmings,
or in an imitation of mahogany. The pine arm chairs, with
a comfortably shaped seat, high spindle backs and with or
V\ﬁtl}out arms are painted in the same way as the straight
chairs.

The early beds were the rope beds. They were made of
pine, maple, and very occasionally cherry. They consist of
four posts, usually of maple, square where the rails join and
with simply turned finials and legs. The head and foot boards
are of pine, the head of the bed distinguished by a turned maple
bar above the pine head board. This bar and the head and
foot board have rounded ends, pegged securely into the maple
posts. The round rails of the bed are always hardwood, and
each end is grooved in a screw, the posts having a hole with
screw turning into which the rails fit. The rails are studded
with wooden pegs to hold the ropes with which the beds were
strung. The feather bed or straw tick went on top of the
ropes. The construction of the beds was exceedingly simple,
with no nails, the only cabinet work being the turning of the
posts, screw holes, and screw ends of the rails.

The dower, or blanket chests are of pine, varying in
size from two to six feet in length. They are a fairly deep
chest with a hinged lid and two shallow drawers with wooden
knobs beneath. They have usually a simple key leg. The
smaller sizes were used as trunks by the Mennonite women.
These chests are exactly like their Pennsylvania prototypes.

The best examples of the early type of chest of drawers
are those which are executed in cherry contrasted with maple.
This is an inheritance, via the native American cabinet-
makers, of Sheraton’s use of mahogany and satinwood. The
body of the chest is of cherry, the face of the drawers is some-
times maple outlined in cherry, sometimes vice versa. Two
maple posts support deep, slightly overhanging upper drawers.
These posts are simply turned like the bed posts. The skill
of the individual maker is apparent in the proportion of the
drawers. The chest illustrated is chosen because - of the
singularly harmonious relation of the drawers to each other.

-That the woven bedspreads were often brought along
from Pennsylvania is apparent by the fact that one was recently
sold in New Germany which had ‘“Allentown’” woven in the
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RUSH BOTTOM CHAIRS, THE HIGH ONE 100 YEARS OLD, MADE
BY JACOB HAILER WHO HAD A SHOP FOR 45 YEARS ON KING
ST., NORTH SIDE, A LITTLE EAST OF SCOTT ST.




BERGEY CRIB

CHEST OF DRAWERS



corner. Others are found with the names 6f the weavers,
Waterloo County names, woven in.

Where was this furniture made? How was it made?

Some pieces may have been brought from Pennsylvania,
but much of the pioneer furniture was undoubtedly made in
Waterloo County. The Bergey crib herewith illustrated was
made near New Dundee, not by a cabinet maker, but by a
member of the family. The legs and spindles were probably
turned at a mill or shop, possibly that of Jacob Hailer. He
opened a small shop in Berlin in 1833 where he made rush
bottomed chairs and rockers. He was particularly skilled at
turning on his lathe. In like manner the posts and screw-
ended rails of the rope beds were probably taken to some
lathe to be turned, and then put together at home. The pine
head boards were probably sawed at home, maple being both
hard to cut and difficult to obtain in proper widths. In 1830,
Treusch, at Wellesley, had also a small cabinet shop. With
at least two cabinet shops as early as 1830, operating lathes,
the general Pennsylvania character of the designs, and the
direct tracing of several pieces to home manufacture, it seems
probable that the early settler made much of his furniture,
taking the turned parts to a shop. Mr. Panabaker speaks of a
chest of drawers made about the thirties by an ancestor of
his, not in a cabinet shop, but on the farm. The only pieces
of furniture a settler, having to bring his family and goods
into Canada in covered wagons would be apt to carry with him
would be dower chests and chests of drawers, containers for
the clothing and bedding, which he would require immediately

“upon arrival. Chairs, tables and bedsteads could await their

turn.
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HISTORY OF THE MILITIA IN WATERLOO COUNTY

The material for this reading is taken from the History
of The Scots Fusiliers of Canada (formerly The North Waterloo
Regiment) as compiled during the past two years by Capt.
E. C. Shelley, the Regimental Historian.

Owing to the limited time at my disposal only a brief
outline of the Militia Activities will be attempted. At the
outset I would like to make it clear that prior to the year
1914 the militia organization referred to in these records
was drawn from all parts of Waterloo County. During that
year, however, the County was divided into South and North
Waterloo, with separate militia units authorized in each portion.
For the period following 1914 this paper deals with the history
of the unit in North Waterloo

Before the year 1866 very lxttle is on record regarding
the Militia in Western Ontarlo, and it appears to have con-
sisted of isolated companies. The organization existing in
Waterloo County was known as the Waterloo Militia.

The January 5th issue of the “Volksblatt’” of 1865 refers
to a draft of men from the 2nd Battalion of Mllltla for Waterloo
County, and gives a list of the men called out in New Hamburg
and Berlin.

The January 12th issue of the same paper_contained a
list of about 800 names of those drafted in various parts of
the County — those from Berlin totalled eighty-one, mc]udmg
the following:

August Kimmel, Joseph Wagner, H. Andrews, Hugo
Kranz, Alex Miller, Henry Mogk, Martin Messner, Geo.
Schwenn, Simon Roy, Henry Wasser, John Scharlock, Philip
Mgﬁz, Henry Kimmel, William Spiers, John Fennell and William

iilar.

1866— In the year 1866, the volunteer force of Ontario

and Quebec was increased from 19,597 to a total of
33,754, and the Adjutant General was authorized to
form the isolated companies of the Militia into pro-
visional Battalions, with permanent staffs,"and wherever
possible the Battalions were organized by Counties.

The 29th Waterloo Battalion of Infantry was
then organized with Headquarters in Berlin under
the command of Lieut.-Col. Kenneth Goodman. Eight
Companies were authorized, but for several years the
records show only six of these to have actively trained.
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No. 1 Company at New Hamburg.
No. 2 Company at Galt.

No. 3 Company at Waterloo.

No. 4 Company at Cross Hill.

No. 5 Company at Berlin.

No. 6 Company at Ayr.

At the end of May and early in June of 1866, the
three Companies from New Hamburg, Galt and Waterloo
were called out to take part in repulsing the Fenians
on the Niagara border, and after three weeks of active
service they were relieved and sent home.

1867— In 1867 no training was carried out.

1868— In 1868 the Battalion did spring training at New
Hamburg, and in September of the same year they
trained again at Galt, mustering 22 Officers and 232
other ranks. On September 28th Colours were pre-
sented to the Battalion by a number of Galt ladies,
who had raised sufficient funds for that purpose.

It is noted that this set of Colours was carried
by the 29th Waterloo Battalion for 33 years, being
finally deposited in Trinity Church, Galt, in 1901.

In 1868 eight days’ drill was authorized, the Govern-
ment grant was $1.00 per day per man, and the Battalion
had to deduct sufficient to take care of rations and
other expenses, leaving each man about $4.00 for his
pay. The citizens of Galt provided billets for the men
that year.

1869— No. Drill.
1870— No Drill.

1871— The Battalion went to Camp at Goderich for 16
days with Lieut.-Col. A. J. McMillan, in command,
strength 18 Officers and 238 other ranks.

1872— Sixteen days training was carried out at, Windsor
with Major T. Peck in command, and a total strength
of 265 all ranks.

1873—  No Drill.

1874— Twelve days training was carried out at Guelph,
with 227 all ranks. ‘

1875— The Battalion took p.art in a Brigade Camp held
at Guelph, and paraded 225 all ranks, Lieut.-Col. T.
Peck was then in command. . -
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1876— The 29th Battalion was allowed to carry out 8
days drill by Companies at their local Headquarters.

1877—  No Dirill.

1878—  The Battalion did its training at its own Camp
near Berlin, and the District Staff Officer was highly
pleased and complimented Lieut.-Col. Peck on general
appearance and efficiency of his unit.

1879— No Drill.
1880— Brigade Camp at London.
1881— No Drill.

1882— The Battalion attended Camp at London under
command of Lieut.-Col. G. Hespeler — 158 strong.

1883—  No Drill.

1884— Training was carried out at London, 175 strong,
and the Headquarters’ Staff was very much disappointed
in the showing made.

1885—)
1886—) No Drill.
1887—)

1888— The Battalion trained at Camp in Stratford,
and received a very poor report from District Head-
quarters on its state of efficiency.

1889— No Drill.

1890— The unit trained again at Stratford with a strength
of 221 all ranks.

1891 No Drill. ,

1802— Training was carried out at London with Lieut.-

Col. Laing Cowan in Command, strength 168 all ranks,
and was complimented on the improvement in its per-
sonnel.

1893— No Camp was held, but the Battalion had two
representatives on the Canadian Bisley team—

Lieut. John Limpert.

Regimental Q. M. Sergt. Jardine.

The Battalion took part in a big celebration held
in Berlin on the 24th of May.
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1894—)
1895—)
1896—)
1897—)
1898—) 10 Years no Camp recorded.
1899—)
1900—)
1901—)
1902—)
1903—)

1898, District Headquarters approved a Badge
for the Battalion, consisting of a mpale Leaf in Gilt
Metal, on which was a garter with buckle, bearing the
words—*“Waterloo Battalion of Infantry,” encircling the
number 29, and bearing the motto ‘‘Defence no Defi-
ance” on a scroll at the base, the whole Badge being
surmounted by an Imperial Crown.

1904— The Battalion attended the annual Camp at London
under Lieut.-Col. G. Atcheson, with 203 all ranks.
1905— The name of the unit was changed from “The 29th

Waterloo Battalion” to ‘““The 29th Waterloo Regiment”’
and a new Badge authorized, bearing this name.

1906—)
1907—)
1908—) 6 Years no Camp recorded.
1909—)
1910—)
1911—)

In 1906, Lieut.-Col. H. Martin took command,
and in 1908 he was succeeded by Lieut.-Col. A. J. Oliver.

1912— In 1912, the 29th Regiment was re-organized
with 8 companies authorized—

3 Companies & H. Q. at Galt.
1 Company at Preston.

1 Company at Hespeler.

1 Company at New Hamburg.
1 Company at Elmira.

1 Company at Berlin.

1913— Early in 1913 the history refers to the Annual
Meeting of “Greys Horse” at Woodstock, Lieut.-
Col. W. M. Davis in command. C. Squadron of this
- Cavalry Regiment having been organized and trained
in Waterloo County with Headquarters in Berlin.
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1913— The 29th Regiment was again reorganized under
Lieut.-Col. Oliver, with four companies in Galt, and
the Regimental Band continued in Berlin.

1914— The 29th Regiment organized a band in Galt and
the Regimental Band in Berlin was for a few months
without any Militia connection until in September
of that year Lieut.-Col. H. J. Bowman was authorized
to organize a new City Regiment with Headquarters
in Berlin, and which shortly afterwards was designated
the 108th Regiment.

1915— In November, 1915, the 118th Battalion was
authorized to train for overseas service, with Lieut.-
Col. W. M. O. Lochead in- Command.

1920— In October, 1920, the 108th Regiment was re-
organized and designated the North Waterloo Regiment,
with Lieut.-Col. Lochead in Command.

1921—) .

1922—)  No training for three years.

1923—)

1924— In the spring of 1924 the North Waterloo Regiment

commenced training actively in Kitchener and in October
Lieut.-Col. W. M. O. Lochead retired from the Command
to be succeeded by Lieut.-Col. H. W. Scruton, M.C.

1925— Training was carried out in Kitchener.

1926— The Regiment sent a detachment of 47 all ranks
to Carlings Heights, London, to take part in the first
training camp to be held there since the close of the
war.

In October 1926 Lieut.-Col. D. G. MclIntosh
succeeded Lieut.-Col. Scruton, M.C. in Command
when the latter resigned on moving to New Brunswick,
New Jersey.

1927— The 1927 training was carried out in Kitchener

’ and a weekend camp held in Doon. The new Regimental
Badge was authorized by Militia Headquarters at
Ottawa and adopted.by the unit.

1928— The North Waterloo Regiment became allied with
a famous British Regiment the Royal Scots Fusiliers
with Headquarters in Ayr, Scotland, and due to.this
affiliation the name was changed to The Scots Fusiliers
of Canada. The change also entailed new uniforms
consisting of Glengarry cap, cut away tunic and tartan
trews.
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During the years 1928-1929-1930 and 1931 the
training was carried out at the Regimental Head-
quarters in Kitchener and each year the Regiment
carried out a three day training camp over Labor Day
at Paradise Lake camp through the courtesy of the
Kitchener and Waterloo Kiwanis Club.

The Department of National Defence saw fit to
provide the unit with armoury accommodation on
the sixth floor of the Dunker Building and these splendid
quarters were taken over on April the first, 1930.

Lieut.-Col. Mclntosh’s term of command expired
on October 1st, 1930, when he was succeeded by the
writer.

The most outstanding event in the history of the
Regiment during recent years was the visit of Lord
Trenchard, Marshal of the Royal Air Force and Colonel
of the Royal Scots Fusiliers which took place last month
(October 1931).

Lord Trenchard came to Canada for the express
purpose of visiting the Regiment and on the night of
his inspection the parade formed up 254 strong, the
largest turnout on record.

E. G. BARRIE, LIEUT.-COL.
Kitchener, Ont.
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ROLL NUMBER TWO OF THE SEVENTH COMPANY
OF THE FIRST BATTALION OF WATERLOO
MILITIA FOR THE YEAR 1857

Limits of Company

All residing on the 7th, 8th and 9th Concesstons of the
Township of Dumfries from Lot No. 33 to the boundary of
the township inclusive.

Officers
Captain

William Dolman
Unmarried Men

Lieut.
Andrew Rodchester

Chezsther Bawtinhamer William Goldie

Mathew Muir
Peter McNewen
Adam Gladstones
Samuel Flanagan
Thomas Hofkirk
Henry McVittie
William Rome
William Rechson
Robert Reid
Robert Kay
John Garden
Michael Carol
Peter Bawtinhamer
Walter Linton
James Kennedy
Timothy Avinton
William Coutts
James Coutts
James Hott

Married Men
John Mitchell
James Hastie
William Smith
John Campbell
James Dubeler
Robert McLean
William Gilgour
George Scott
William Brown
James Best
William Adams
Robert Anderson
George Rutherford
William B. Currie

Fergus McClement
Adam Donalds
James Mimino
Reizer McClary
Alex. Shepherd
Duncan Shepherd
William Tilley
James Brimner
David Goldie
Henry Manson
Adam Manson
Alex. Kay

John Haddy
David Loughland
James Loughland
William Loughland
Theo. Black

Thos. McCish
James Somerville

Walter Gladstone
Francis Cassady
John Brydon
James Armstrong
John Crozier
George Snow
David Mitchell
George McDonald
William Bell
Joseph Kilgour
Munzo Wallace
William MeMoris
Andrew Scott
Andrew Dunlap
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Ensgn.

Total
James Edgar 3

Peter McGregor
William Fair
John Kay
James Kay
Hugh Kay
Robert Pringle
William Pringle
John Nelson
William Carruthers
Alex. McBain
James Baird
John Easton

~ John Edgar

Alex. Edgar
William Edgar
George McClugh

59

William MeGavir
Samuel Weir
William McGregor
Robert Watson
Robert Hall
James Gustin
John MecGregor
Thomas Calwell
Emanuel Picket
John Drysdate
William Baker
Andrew Hope
David Weir
Justive Vanderlap



William Henderson
Archibald Watson
William Scott
Thomas Rome
Hugh Cuthbertson
John Wyllie
Robert Scott

John Wilson

John Titford
Alexander Rose

Widowers with children
Donald McKensey

Theo. Edgar
James MceCormie
William Anderson
William Sheurman
James Aulee
William Risdale
William Loughland
Peter Hope

Henry White
Thomas Hope

James Black

Reserve Men, 40 but under 60

Robert McLean
QGeorge Alchin
Peter Gambell
John Renwick
Alex. Russell
William Gummer
Thos. Linch
Timothy Avinton
Charles Ross
Adam Hasell
Robert Fulton
Robert More
Wm. Hall

Thos. Anderson

Total Rank and File from

Walter Carruthers
Miller Flewery
Ebenezer Garden
Thos., Carney
Alex. Peterie
James Robson
Thos. Robson
Robert Morton
Wm. Helem
Hugh McRae
Peter Cunningham
John Ireland
John Douglas
John Bragar

18 10 60......cccevvieriinennan

...................................

James McRae
James Blake
John Schmitt
Charles Maier
James Gladstones
John Murray
Robert Hyle
‘Wm. Rathbun
James Young
71

John Stewart
James Whetford
Joseph Kilgour
William Walker
Richard Senior
Daniel Mauley
Robert Gladstones
John Mitehell
James Huchison
Wm. McDonald
Thos. Veitch
Wm. Anderson

From the original roll in the Archives of the Waterloo
Historical Society, donated by Miss Elizabeth Dolman Watson

of Ayr.
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REMINISCENCES OF BERLIN
(NOW KITCHENER)

By Jacob Stroh
Contributed by Joseph M. Snyder
Part II.—Churches, Roads, Miscellaneous

EARLY CHURCHES

The Mennonites who were the first and only settlers
in this district up to about 1820 held their services in the
homes of the people until, in 1813, a log church was erected
on the site of the present church on East King Street. The
adjoining cemetery was the first and largest in the district.
It was generously open also to other denominations. Joseph
Bechtel was the first Mennonite minister and served until
1810 when he was succeeded by Bishop Benjamin Eby. In
1834 the log church was replaced by a frame building.

Henry William Peterson, publisher of the *Canada
Museum’ officiated atfunerals, baptisms, etc., and also
informally as preacher during the years 1832-1835.

Rev. Frederick William Bindemann, Lutheran, was the
first regularly ordained resident minister in Berlin. People
of all denominations came to him to be married, even Men-
nonites. He had at times three to five weddings in a week.
Mrs. Bindemann was a popular assistant to her husband. She
had a fme singing voice and taught the confirmation classes
in singing. Mr. Bindemann was in Berlin as ‘early as 1833.
He baptized the author’s aunt in 1836.

In 1841 the Wesleyan Methodist Church was erected on
Church Street, east of Benton. It was a frame building ac-
commodating about 200 people and cost about $1,000. West
of the church up to Benton Street, was the cemetery.

In 1842 the members of the Swedenborgian Church used
to meet in Enslin’s book bindery, — in fine weather in the
adjoining orchard. In the same year an undenominational
church was erected on Frederick Street, not far from King
Street, and was called the Free Church. Funds for the building
were raised by subscription. It was used by different denomina-
tions who, had no church of their own; the Swedenborgians
who adopted the name of the New Jerusalem congregation,
Rev. Bindemann with his people, and several other denomina-
tions.

The first Evangelical Church was erected on Queen Street
South, near the end of Church Street in 1841. This was a
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frame building, size 34 ft. by 40 ft., cost $1,000 and seating
capacity 250. Rev. William Schmidt was an ‘early minister.
In 1866 this building was moved to Elgin Street and used as
a tannery by Ringle and Stroh. Later on it became a dwelling
and so continues to the present. In place of the old church
a new brick church was erected in 1866 with a parsonage along-
side. This building, still standing, is now used as shops and
dwellings, with a garage at the rear. The Evangelical church
cemetery was a small plot on Benton Street, next to the
Methodist cemetery.

In 1847 the New Jerusalem Church, Swedenborgian, was
erected on the westerly corner of Benton and Church Streets;
a white frame building, cost $400, seating capacity 150. A
driving shed was nearby on Benton Street and a neat fence
enclosed the church grounds next to which, on Church Street,
was the cemetery belonging to the church. Rev. John Harbon
was the first minister, 1844-1852. Later Rev. F. W. Tuerk
was minister for many years, from 1857 on. :

Dr. Scott, first warden of Waterloo County and first
reeve of Berlin, was buried in the Swedenborgian cemetery
on Church Street. Pioneer Christian Enslin was also buried
there. About 1874 this cemetary and all surrounding ones
were discontinued, and the graves, monuments, etc.,, moved
to the then new Mount Hope Cemetery.

In 1848 the St. Paul’s Lutheran Church was erected on
the South corner of Church and Queen Streets, the building
parallel to Queen Street, and well above it with ground held
by a high retaining wall. The church was 35 ft. by 50 ft. and
cost about $1,800. Rev. F. W. Bindemann was the first pastor.
The floor level of the building was 15 ft. or more above the
street. Approach steps led from Church Street. The church
spire is said to have reached a height of 100 ft. above the
street. During erection of the building the gable end was
blown in by a strong wind. Adjoining the church was the
Lutheran Cemetery. In 1854, fourteen children, who had died
of cholera, were buried in a row in this cemetery. Their parents
were immigrants from Germany. In 1862 the church was
known by the name ‘“Deutsche Protestantische Evangelische
Christliche Gemeinde,” pastor Rev. F. W. Bindemann. -

The Baptist Church plot was next south of the Sweden-
borgians, on Benton Street. The church was built about
1854, brick, size 40 ft. by 60 ft., cost $1300., seating capacity
about 300. The minister in 1864 was the Rev. H. Schneider.*

The bodies from the cluster of cemeteries on Church
and Benton Streets were, as stated, removed to Mount Hope
Cemetery, where the various Church Societies had bought

*Statistics here and above given are from the J. Sutherland Directory of 1864.

275




plots for their respective congregations. Final removals were
made about 1874; a number that had been long buried were
left, until perhaps found in cellar excavations for the dwellings
now occupying the ground of the former cemeteries.

The first Catholic Church, the old St. Mary's Church
on the south corner of Weber and Young Streets, was built
1854-56. The corner stone was laid about August 1854. It
was intended to complete the building in 1855, but when' the
walls, of red brick, were about two feet from the top the brick
gave out and no more could be had. Then in 1856 they could
get no red brick, so the upper two feet were laid with white
brick. This gave the building an odd appearance until, many
years later, the whole was painted red. John Dauberger,
whose brick yard was back of the east corner of Queen and
Ellen Streets, where his house is still standing, supplied the
brick for the church as well as for the Sacristy and the school
some years later. Bishop Farrel dedicated the church in 1856.
During the first years, with the congregation very small, there
was no regular priest for this church, intermittent supply
being had from St. Agatha. From 1866 on Rev. Dr. Louis
Funcken was for many years rector of old St. Mary's church.*

In the early days graves were marked with head boards,
called Wooden Grave Stones. Later a suitable sand stone was
found in Waterloo Township. William Brown, who, was
the first tombstone maker in Berlin, used this sandstone for
his work. In 1855 he supplied such a stone for the grave of
the author’s grandmother, who died in 1827. In the old Men-
nonite Cemetery, King Street East, there are several of these
sandstone gravestones. .

LAW AND ORDER

In the early days of the community, consisting as it did
wholly of Mennonites with later only a sprinkling of others,
local government was under the Mennonite Church discipline,
with Bishop Benjamin Eby as chief factotum. There were
no local courts of any kind. If a wrong was committed com-
plaint was laid with the elders of the church. The convicted
offender had either to make proper amends or be deprived
of church privileges, a dreaded alternative. This church
government continued until well after 1820.

When the later Waterloo County was comprised in the
Halton District, court would sit either in Hamilton or Toronto,
and local Mennonites were frequently called on to attend at
either place as juryman. They were not compelled to take
the oath, but simply to affirm, by holding up their hands.

After 1842 courts were at Guelph, Wellington County,

$Spetz's History of the Catholic Church in Waterloo County.
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to which the local district then belonged. There were how-
ever Division Courts, first in Preston and later in Berlin.

On organization of Waterloo County, in 1852, Berlin was
hardly thought of as County Town; the idea to have it so appears
to have emanated from Guelph, in jealousy of Galt, which was
by far the most considerable place in the new County. There
was even talk, then as later, of a separate County with Galt
as County Town. Vigorous agitation, led by such men as
Dr. Scott, Carl Ahrens, Stroh and Fred Gaukel, the latter
donating the site for the County buildings, and its centra]
location, decided in favor of Berlin.

ROADS

One great difficulty with the early settlers was the lack
of roads. There were trails through the woods which later
developed into roads of a sort. Swamps were skirted at first,
but with increase of settlement, it became worth while to
cut roads through them, and these were surfaced with tree
trunks 6 to 8 inches thick, laid side by side, known as corduroy.
They were eventually covered with earth or gravel, generally
in a thin layer, leaving them very rough and bumpy. The
common, easiest and quickest mode of travel was on horse-
back; every farmer had two or three saddles. In the spring
break up, or after long continued rains, the roads became
next to impassible for vehicles.

The road from the south through Beverly Township,
known as the Beverly Road, over which the Pennsylvania
settlers came in, was largely through swamps, and therefore
.corduroy. It was desperate and hardly passable in the early
days. Only in winter, with sleighing, could it be freely used,
and then was the time for heavy hauling, when the settlers
would take their grain to the lake port at Dundas. Later on
the road was macadamized. Now it is the paved highway to
" Hamilton. .

In the early days there was no real road from the local
settlement to Waterloo. A trail led around the swamp, which
covered a considerable part of the later King Street in Berlin,
and came in by a round-about way to the mill in Waterloo.
A similar trail led to Bridgeport before Lancaster Street was
opened. :

. There were three main east and west roads through the

county, traversing Waterloo and Wilmot Townships. These
were Bleam’s Road, through German Mills, Mannheim and
along the south side of New Hamburg, merging west of New
Hamburg into the Huron Road; Schneider Road, also called
the Middle Road, through Petersburg, Baden, thence west;
and Erb’s Road also called the Upper Road, through St.
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Agatha westward, the main cross street in Waterloo, where
it is Erb Street.

The Huron Road, the road from Guelph to Goderich,
of the Canada Company, was south of Bleam’s Road in Wat-
erloo County, passing through Preston, Strasburg and Hays-
ville. Further west it turned northerly to the line of Bleam's

Road.
THE COMMONS

When the Grand Trunk Railway was built through, large
tracts of land were bought up, notably by Sheriff Grange of
Guelph, in anticipation of rapid settlement, and subdivided
into building lots, which were sold to various parties in Toronto
and elsewhere. For many years there was no reselling or
building, and farming of the land was discontinued. There
were several of these open plots, one, containing a number
of pine trees, in the West Ward, and one on either side of King
Street in the region of Wilmot Street and eastward. Parts
were fenced in and rented in later years. The largest block
was between Ahrens and St. Ledger Streets, and extending,
from about the line of Young Street to the Railway, in an
almost continuous open tract, which so remained for twenty-
five years or more. It was known as The Commons and was
a fine public recreation ground, particularly the part between
Ahrens Street and Margaret Ave. This was the place for
Queen’s Birthday celebrations, fairs, circuses, etc. (The Court-
house lot was also used for a time as circus ground). The
Commons furthermore served as pasture for the village cows
of which a large herd grazed there throughout the summer.

THE WINDMILL -

A feature of many years of the southerly end of the village
was a windmill, on what was known as Mecklenburg Hill,
near the westerly corner of Church and Albert streets. This
was the project of a company composed of Jacob Y. Shantz,
Henry Boehmer and others. It was built in 1860 by Frederick
Rickerman who was the originator of the idea. Rickerman
was familiar with windmills and had operated one in Germany.
The structure was about sixty feet high, hexagonal in plan,
with each of the four wings or sails about 45 feet long by 6
feet wide. A vertical centre beam meshing with the top
cross shaft extended down to the main floor of the mill and
there operated three sets of stones. The revolving top carried
the cross-shaft, on which the wings were mounted, and could
be set for the wind by means of a windlass. An outer platform
was at the height of the wing length from the top shaft. From
this the wings or arms could be worked on, and their canvas
covering put in place. Particular excellence was claimed for
the flour from this mill. The author remembers eating bread
baked from the first flour it produced.
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FIRE PROTECTION

In the early days it was a well recognized obligation that
every one going to a fire should bring a pail or bucket. The
bucket brigade was the only means of fire fighting. A double
line would be formed from the water supply, usually a well,
to the fire; filled buckets were passed hand to hand to the fire,
and empty back to the water supply. Men passed the full
buckets, women and children made up the return line. Some-
times wells would be pumped dry, the supply exhausted. Every
one was supposed to have his special mark or initials on his
own bucket, so that these could be sorted out to the owners
after the fire. The best buckets were made of heavy leather,
and, empty, could be thrown down from roofs. A set of these
leather buckets, hung in rows on the frame work of the hook
and ladder truck, were a feature of later fire apparatus, always
carried to fires.

The first regular fire apparatus consisted of two fire pumps,
one for the unnerstaedl, (Lower Town) and the other for the
oberstaedl, (Upper Town).

With the pump there was a tank, and discharge hose,
(there was probably also a suction hose to fill the tank) the
whole mounted on wheels, which were of iron. These pumps
were made in Berlin, in the Huber and Ahrens F oundry. The
tanks were of wood, painted green. The pumps were kept
for a time in an empty blacksmith shop on the north corner
of King and Scott Streets, later, in the Town Hall, on the
Frederick Street lot of the present fire hall. Scott Street
vicinity was about the boundary between Upper and Lower
Town. Going to a fire the pumps were hand drawn, by means
of long ropes.

About 1855-1860 a fire pump was bought from Perry
& Company, Montreal. It was a handsome machine, but was
small and weak. Ithad a nice-sounding bell. The hose reached
from King Street southward to the Stroh house on Queen
Street. It required great effort, to capacity of the pump and
pumpers, to throw water to the roof of this house, a good sized
two storey building. This apparatus was also hand drawn, by
the men of the fire brigade, except when it went out of town
when a team of horses was used and the engine was hung on
the rear of a wagon.

Probably about 1860-1865 a hook and ladder outfit was
added to the fire fighting apparatus. The men of the Hook
and Ladder Company were paid for their services. ‘

The Fire Company was divided into sections, No. 1 and
No. 2, one section promptly on order turning in to pump
while the other rested, and so turn about. The pumping,
by hand, was hard work. A double lever was mounted on
the tank, with a long handlebar, worked up and down, ex-
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tending on either side. The general public would often help
to man the handlebars. '

In 1864 the fire brigade was called “The Berlin Fire
Brigade.” It was also known as “The Phoenix Fire Com-
pany.” ‘
In 1870 came “The Rescue Fire Company’ and the first
steam fire engine, made in Seneca Falls, New York. Two
hose reels completed the equipment. This engine was drawn
by horses, but no horses were kept for the purpose. The first
team arriving at the fire house after the alarm was given would
get the job, and a bonus of five or ten dollars.

The firemen had a uniform the most striking item of
which was a specially made leather helmet with protective
brim, broad and sloping down at the back. This was the
regular firemen's headgear of the time.

At the Franklin Hotel fire, South Queen Street, in 1872
or 1873, a bursting flue disabled the steamer and the town
was at the mercy of the flames. Nearby frame buildings,
the California Block, corner King and Queen Streets, the
Kranz Building, on King Street, the Commercial Hotel barn,
and others, caused great alarm. The fire started in the hay
mow of the Franklin Hotel barn and spread very rapidly. The
barn and hotel building were completely destroyed, but after
hard work, headed by Mayor Kranz himself, the fire was got
under control.

For additional supply for fire protection there were water
tanks; three on King Street corners, at Cedar Street, Frederick
and Foundry Streets; one at the Court House on Weber Street,
and one at the corner of Queen and Church Streets. The
latter was filled from Schneider’s Creek and others from this
one. Care was taken to have all tanks kept filled. The Fred-
erick Street tank was mostly kept filled by drainage from the
St. Nicholas Hotel roofs. These tanks were in general 12
feet square and 10 or more feet deep. The one at Cedar Street
was put down in 1854. It had two ordinary well pumps, painted
white. At the corner of Queen and King Streets there was a
large capacity well, which also had two pumps.

When first filling the Church Street tank through new
cotton hose, purchased at 25c per foot, there was an exciting
time. At the outset the hose leaked and would not get tight
until the water swelled the cotton. Schneider’s Creek, where
the new fire engine was doing the pumping, is 1750 feet from
Church Street corner so that test was made of both engine
and hose. Pressure was forced higher and higher until a stream
from the nozzle shot up successfully to about 40 feet above
the Lutheran Church spire, a result greeted with cheers by the
assembled crowd, and the village fathers were very proud
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of their excellent new fire fighting apparatus. The test was
however considered to have strained both engine and hose
beyond safe capacity.

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

Wild animals, bears and wolves, deer and other game
were plentiful in the early days of the settlement, and were
to be seen more or less later. Henry Stroh saw two wolves
in 1840, back of the location of the later Breithaupt Tannery.
In 1853 Joseph Zalowski, a painter in Ziegler's wagon shop
at the east end of the village, shot a deer in the neighborhood
of Bauer’s pond, on the Petersburg Road. Wild pigeons, for
a time enormously plentiful, black squirrels, partridges and
occasional pheasants, etc., provided ready sport. The Schneider
farm on South Queen Street was a great attraction for the
boys of the village, with its dam for fishing and swimming,
and with the woods adjoining.

Railway excursions were a feature. The Great Western
Railway had excursions to Niagara Falls. The train would
leave Preston, nearest G. W. R. station to Berlin, at four
o'clock in the morning, and return, 24 hours later, about the
same time; fare for the round trip 75 cents. Hundreds of
people would go, driving to Preston in crowds, in beer wagons,
etc. All kinds of good or time worn passenger cars, and some-
times box freight cars, if there were not enough passenger
cars, would be used. The Grand Trunk Railway had more
orderly excursions to Toronto.

In 1834 cholera was epidemic in Berlin as it was more
or less throughout the province. Locally it was brought from
a circus in Galt. :

The first circus came to Berlin about 1855. It performed
- on the Court House lot which was then unfenced and with no
trees. It was horse drawn and made short stages from day
to day, Brampton, Georgetown, Guelph, Berlin, etc. The
performers were lodged in the local hotels, horses being cared
for in the hotel stables, all as arranged for by an advance
agent. A female rope walker was a special attraction. The
rope led from the top of the main tent pole along Frederick
Street to the ground. Admission to the circus was 25c.

Queen’s birthday celebration was also held in the Court
House lot, later at Heins' Park, part of the present Victoria
park, where there was a race track, and on the commons.

Berlin, as the principal German centre in the country,
had Turn Vereins, and Saenger-Bunds. There were Turner
Festivals and later Saengerfests. Large attendance would
gather from as far as Rochester, Buffalo and Detroit; from
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Toronto, from Hamilton, and from numerous towns and villages.
The good Berlin and- Waterloo beers were no small part of the
attraction. At the Saengerfests there was very meritorious
and artistic singing, particularly by large Maennerchors.

The largest and most notable celebration in Berlin was

the Friedensfest on May 2nd, 1871, after the Franco-Prussian

war. Great crowds attended, many visitors coming from the
United States. The town was profusely decorated for the
occasions, with great evergreen arches, etc. '

The first glue factory in Berlin was on Gaukel Street.
Here the first white glue was made, an excellent product known

as Bonnet Glue, which got first prize at Toronto Exhibitions.

The glue maker was Casper Brinzer, brother of the owner
Urban Brinzer. Fischer's glue factory, active for a number
of years, was near the corner of Wilmot and Charles Streets,
and began about 1863.

Streets were called roads until real estate changes became

‘more active. Surveyors named them after people who had

owned the land or made the subdivisions.
Weber Street was named after David Weber, as stated.

Frederick Street is generally considered to be named
after Frederick Gaukel, though some claim it for Frederick

_Millar, father of Alex Millar. -

Dr. Scott is commemorated in Scott Street, and George
Eby in Eby Street.

Cedar Street gets its name from the Cedar Swamp which
was at its east end. '

Frances Street is named after Henry F. J. Jackson’s
mother and oldest daughter.

Lancaster Street is named from Lancaster County,
Pennsylvania, whence came a number of the first local settlers.

REMINISCENCES OF BERLIN, PART I
(1930 ANNUAL REPORT)
CORRECTIONS AND ADDITIONS

Page 180—Last paragraph, second and sixth lines, for “Wan-
less” read ‘‘Wanzer.” -

Page 181—Second paragraph, eighth and ninth lines, for
. . “Phineas Varnum’ read ‘“Frederick Gaukel.”
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Page
Page

Page
Page

Page

Page

Page

Page

Page

Last paragraph, fourth line, insert “In 1871"
before ‘“he erected.”

183—Second line from top of page, for ‘‘on’ read “‘t

185—First paragraph, third lme, for “Jaeckel” read

“Geckel.”

186—Fourth paragraph, omit “A hlgh wall at the back.”

189—First line, for ‘“‘Bricker” read ‘‘Brickner.”

Second paragraph, for ‘“Humbrecht” read “Ham-
brecht.”

190—First paragraph, eighth line, for “Cole and Graf,

druggists,” read ‘‘Colin Groff, druggist.”

192—First paragraph, second and third lines, for “tailor

and shoemaker,” read ‘‘Jeweller and watch and
clock repairer;”’ eighth line omit “and tailors.”
g

Second paragraph, second line, for ‘“Gorman”
read “German;’ sixth line, for ‘‘Prinzer” read
“Brinzer.”

Fifth paragraph eighth line for “Cole and Graf,
druggists’ read ‘‘Colin Groff, druggist.”

194—Second paragraph, tenth line, for ‘‘Eckstein’ read

“Epting.”

196—Third paragraph, should read “A two story rough

cast building used as a pottery by Anselm Wagner.
It had a sign over the door, ‘Anselm Wagner,
Haefnerei'.”

Eighth paragraph, add, after Huber, ‘“later by
Rev. F. W. Tuerk, in 1857.”

Ninth paragraph, first line, for *‘brick” read
“frame.”

197—Sixth paragraph sixth line, for ‘‘Roth” read

“Poth.”

Seventh paragraph, first line, for “long” read
“brick;” second line, for ‘“Roth” read ‘‘Poth;”
seventh line, for “head’” read ‘‘shoulders.”

Page 201—Ninth paragraph, for ‘“The jail” read ‘“The high

stone wall of the jail yard.”

Page 202—Omit sixth paragraph, “A Lane.”
Page 203—Bottom line for ‘“John’ read ‘Joseph.”
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Page 205—First paragraph, seventh line, for “lived in the
house” read “‘Used it as a Post Office.”

Page 206—Fifth paragraph, first line, for “frame building”
read “log cabin.”

Eighth paragraph, first line, insert ‘“of Buffalo”
after Klein; second line for “John Klein of Buffalo”
read “Judge Klein of Walkerton.”

Ninth paragraph, second line, for ‘“Roth” read
“Poth.” ’

Page 207—First paragraph, third line, for “Lutz’ read “Lortz.”

Note:—The Stroh-Snyder papers are somewhat edited
and added to by the Publication Committee.
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MUSEUM AND PUBLICATION COMMITTEE REPORT
W. H. Breithaupt, Chairman

It is particularly fit that the Waterloo Historical Society
should have a meeting in Preston.

In Klotz's history of Preston you will find that George
Clemens drove a four horse team from Pennsylvania to this
vicinity. in 1800, the year of the beginning of settlement in
what became Waterloo County. In 1805 John Erb, the founder
of Preston came from Pennsylvania, with his family. In 1806
he built a saw mill and in 1807 a grist mill, which, improved
and rebuilt from time, continues to this day, as the oldest
place of business in the county. With the impetus given by
John Erb the village continued steadily to grow and to flourish.
By the thirties of last century it had become known throughout
the country as a prosperous German centre. Qutstanding
local men of that day were Jacob Hespeler and Otto Klotz,
Hespeler a native of Wurtenberg and Klotz of Kiel, on the
Baltic. Jacob Hespeler was the most energetic man in the
history of Waterloo County. In Preston he was active as
merchant, miller, distiller, etc. Securing an excellent water
power in the near by village of New Hope he gradually, and
eventually altogether, transferred his interests there. In 1857
the village name of New Hope was changed to Hespeler, in
honor of Jacob Hespeler.

Otto Klotz was a unique character. The type does not
exist today, at least not in Waterloo County. For over forty
years he was hotel-keeper, and during all that time and later,
noble, public-spirited citizen. As early as 1841 he was School
Commissioner for the District of Wellington and thereafter
for many years was foremost in educational interests in Wat-
erloo County. He wrote a German grammar used in the Public
Schools of Preston and Berlin and elsewhere. He founded,
with books of his own, the Preston Mechanic’s Institute, which
later grew into the Preston Public Library. He was Division
Court Clerk and had many offices of trust. With Jacob
Hespeler he organized the Preston fire brigade.

I am pleased to report that interest in the Society’s work
continues to be well sustained. Our Annual Report for 1930
is one more addition to the compendium of County History
our publications have become: Though late to appear, it is
gratifying that the Education Department of the Provincial
Government _year after year finds our material worth
publishing.

We have added to the shelving in the fireproof basement
room in the Kitchener Public Library, which, by courtesy
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of the Library Board, serves as County Museum. The room

is now lined with shelving cases to hold the 400 odd volumes,
year by year being added to, of county newspapers.

The late E. W. B. Snider, active member of the Waterloo
Historical Society, primarily a Waterloo County miller, was
a man of wide interests. He, if any one man, has the distinction
of being the originator of the Ontario Hydro Electric Power
Commission and its work. His great service to the milling
industry of Canada was his introduction of the roller mill
process, from Hungary, in 1875, about the same time, if not a
little before, this process was first used in the mills of
Minneapolis, and thus in the United States. The first rolls
imported by Mr. Snider were long ago scrapped, and lost. A
later importation however, a set of porcelain rolls is still in the
New Dundee Mills, and is very kindly placed at the disposal
of the Waterloo Historical Society by Mr. Amos Hilborn,
proprietor of the New Dundee Mills.

The oldest building in Waterloo County is a stately log
house, at Doon, built by Christian Schneider, great-grand-
father of E. W. B. Snider, in 1807. For many years the place
belonged to the late Mr. George Tilt, Township Clerk, who
kept it up well. I visited the house this summer with a friend
from a distance who was greatly interested. The roof especially
is in bad repair, practically gone, so that the present owner,
who lives in the house, was thinking of taking it down and
using the material, among it well preserved 40 ft. timbers,
to build a smaller house better suited to his needs.

It would be a great pity to see this fine, historic old house
taken down, and I trust it may be possible to avert this.

President Panabaker has caused to be donated to the
Society, by Mrs. Eagle of Puslinch Lake, a very interesting
museum item. This is what there is left of a large Indian
dug-out canoe. In cross section it is 34 inches wide with sides
12 inches to 14 inches high. The stern is missing, rotted away,
as is also the point of the bow. At the bow the wood is 6 inches
thick and at the sides and bottom from 2 inches to 3 inches.
The story goes that about 50 years ago the craft was still in
use, and that a man was drowned out of it while duckshooting.
After that it was lost, and not again seen until some twenty-five
years ago, when some boys found it, filled with earth, and
cranberry bushes growing in it.

The original length of this dug-out was probably about
20 feet. What is left has length of 12 feet. It was no doubt
fabricated at Puslinch Lake and never taken away from there;

"too heavy for easy portage, and the Grand or Speed rivers

being in any event not adapted for it. It required a log about
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4 feet in diameter to make it from. As to its age we can but
conjecture. To make it with the primitive tools the Indians
had until about 300 years ago, when they first had iron tools,
more or less, from the white man, must have been extremely
difficult, being done entirely by burning and scraping away
with edged stones. There are no iron tool marks. The log
was probably first split, then slowly burned and scraped out.

Mr. A. C. Parker of Rochester, N. Y., noted authority
on Indian artifacts, judging from a photograph, considers
it a truly aboriginal canoe, possibly of Algonquin origin.

In the Canadian Geographical Journal for October 1931
a dug-out of Bella Coola, British Columbia, is shown. It has
lines similar to this one of Puslinch Lake, so much similar
that a standard design is indicated.

The Puslinch dug-out is now in dry shelter, safeguarded
against further deterioration. With the roller mill set and its
frame, at New Dundee, it awaits room in an adequate Waterloo
County Museum.
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BIOGRAPHY

Hervey M. Bowman, Ph.D.

Hervey M. Bowman spent a lifetime in the pursuit of
knowledge. Mentally he was well endowed. The schools
gave him a sound scholarship and his home contributed the
manners that adorn knowledge. Given a rugged constitution
he would in all probability have attained a secure place in
the realm of letters. As it was he performed a fair amount
of sound research work before illness intervened.

This student was the son of Isaac L. and Elizabeth Bow-
man. The father; in his youth taught school. In 1860 he
was allotted the position of school inspector in Waterloo Town-
ship. He continued as such until 1871, when one general
inspector for the county was appointed. Thereafter he qualified
for a Land Surveyor. He was a member of the United Brethren
Church and one of its local ministers. Living in Berlin (now
Kitchener), Ontario, he was for a number of years, until his
death in 1893, the Treasurer of Waterloo Township.

On December 25th, 1862, Isaac L. Bowman married
Elizabeth, daughter of John and Mary (Wenger) Meyer.
She was born on May 17th, 1844, and died in 1929. Both
were of Pennsylvania-German descent. They inherited gentle-
ness and a liking for mathematics. To them were born four
sons: Leander (1863), Arthur (1865), Franklin (1870), and
Hervey Meyer Bowman, on September 30th, 1873. The
three older sons became Civil Engineers and later went to
the United States where they rose to prominence in their pro-
fessions or in business enterprises. The youngest, Hervey,
remained at home and became a scholar.

In 1885 Hervey passed from the Central School to the
High School. At neither school did he evince any great liking
for athletic sports. He was a brilliant student and Mr. J. W.
Connor, for over 30 years principal of the local High School,
said of him, that he possessed the best mind of any scholar
who ever passed through his hands. He was successful in
writing on the Matriculation examination in 1889 and then
entered the University of Toronto. There he was graduated
as a Bachelor of Arts. Then he took a post-graduate course
at Leipzig University, Germany, where in due course he re-
ceived his degree as a Doctor of Philosophy. That at a period
when the majority of youths were content with passing High
School Entrance. .

He had an analytical mind and its complement, patience.

‘He liked to dig down to the roots of things. After returning
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from Europe, those qualifications, plus scholarship, led to his
being engaged by the Carnegie Foundation, Washington,
D.C., for research work. A number of years afterward he
was employed in similar researches by the Canadian Archives
Department at Ottawa. For both institutions his labors were
signalized by their depth and accuracy.- In clearness of style
his reports approached to Euclid's axioms, while they had
the easy flow characteristic of the educated Pennsylvania
Dutchman. Mr. Bowman never strutted, nor displayed his
academic titles.

Poor health frustrated his life plan. Had he been
physically more robust it is likely he would have gained an
international reputation as a thinker and as a writer. As it
was his mental output was curtailed by intermittent illnesses.
At his home, 60 Church Street, city, he, however, patiently
resisted the inroads on his health and devoted his years to
the study of philosophy and kindred subjects and to writing
about them. He took pleasure in going down to the “izzems."”

For the greater part of his life he never shared in the
transaction of public business. Yet he kept posted on national
questions by reading and in touch with municipal problems
by discussing them with J. W. Connor, Conrad Bitzer, A. L.
Bitzer, and other friends. In 1904 he was elected Corres-
ponding Secretary of the Ex-Pupils’ Association in connect-
tion with the Berlin High School. With others he compiled
a Calendar of Pupils from 1855 onward. Later he manifested
a keen interest in the Waterloo Historical Society, contributing
a number of authoritative papers.

When D. B. Detweiler opened his campaign to interest
Western Ontario municipalities in Niagara Power he impressed
Mr. Bowman’s services. Mr. Detweiler furnished the data
and Mr. Bowman composed articles for the press and pamphlets
for the public. Also when Mr. Detweiler launched his St.
Lawrence Seaway project he applied to Mr. Bowman for
assistance in the presentation of reasons for its construction.
At that time the Georgian Bay Canal scheme was before the
country as an All-Canadian Waterway. Mr. Detweiler gathered
the information and Mr. Bowman set it down in a logical
order. He contrasted the two proposals and made such a
strong appeal that there was a quittance of the northern scheme.

In addition to his power of expression he had a great
fund of moral courage. In 1916, for example, he opposed the
changing of the city’s name, because he believed in the sense
of fairness animating the Canadian public. He was elected
to the city council in 1917 and won the confidence of the
public by his views and independent actions. He, like his
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forefathers, was a Liberal. In his religious affiliation he was
a member of the Alma Street United Brethren Church.

Mr: Bowman died on April 30th, 1931. He had never
married. So far as his native city is concerned he was the last
representative in it of an old and esteemed family. He is,

however, survived by two brothers, A. M. Bowman, and
F. M. Bowman, of Pittsburgh, Pa.

Hervey Bowman had the distinction of having had. two
papers read before the Royal Society of Canada. The first
one was presented in 1911, and entitled, ‘“The Origin and
Treatment of Discrepancy in Trustworthy Records.” There-
tofore the practice when a discrepancy was found between a
trustworthy and an untrustworthy record was to disregard
the conflicting statement of the untrustworthy record; and
when a discrepancy occurred between two trustworthy records
to ascribe to one or the other writers a one-sided or un-
intentional error. It was that practice which he demonstrated
to be unsound. He defended the legitimacy and the necessity
of discrepancy in truthful records, maintaining their ability
to suggest a harmony that would bring the discrepancy within
the categories. Thus discrepancy does not prove exclusion.

His second paper was read in 1912 and was entitled,
“Fundamental Processes in Historical Science.”” Mr. W. D.
LeSueur’ L.L.D., Vice-President of the Society, presented both
papers. In introducing the second treatise he said in his intro-
duction: :

“An essential feature of a science so called is
that its conclusions are reached by processes which,
if applied without error by the operator, lead neces- .
sarily to correct results. The author here applies"
this principle to historical science by seeking to
locate these fundamental processes in the study and
writing of history which rightly followed, lead neces-
sarily to correct results, and thus determine the con-
‘ditions on which historical trustworthiness depends.”

In connection with the Royal Society of Canada let it
be said that it consists of forty life members, chosen for their
scholarship. Had Mr. Bowman, lived, his friends expected
to see him elected as a member.

Contributed by W. V. Uttley.

John Davis Barnett, LL.D.

~ Twenty years ago the figure of John Davis Barnett was
a familiar one on the streets of Stratford. With his tall, erect
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figure, his snow-white beard and his loose-fitting clothes, it
was often remarked that he looked like the American poet,

‘Walt Whitman. The present generation probably has little

knowledge of him, but an older generation remembers him
with interest and in many cases with deep affection. He is
buried in Woodland Cemetery at .London and on the grave-

stone which records the chief activities of his life are these
words from Tennyson's “Mort d'Arthur”:

“I have lived my life and that which I have done
May He within Himself make pure.” :

The real monument to John Davis Barnett, that by which
he will be remembered perhaps after the stone at his grave
has crumbled and fallen, will be the great private library which
he collected during his more than fifty years of active life and
which in 1918 he presented to the University of Western On-
tario. When the library went to London fourteen years ago
it consisted of about 40,000 bound volumes, tens of thousands
of pamphlets, magazines excerpts, etc., and large numbers
of prints and pictures. In the next five years, before his illness,
the donor of the library continued to add to it and in his will
he left $5,000 as an endowment. The name Barnett stands
to the front among the benefactors of the University of Western
Ontario, and very properly the University conferred upon him
in 1919 the honorary degree of Doctor of Laws. ’

During his residence of more than twenty years in Strat-
ford Dr. Barnett lived at 29 Douro Street. The house has
been somewhat altered since he removed from it but many
citizens will remember the wing which projected to the west
and which, together with every other portion of the ground
floor of the house, was filled with books, while the barn at the
rear contained tons of parcels of unbound material. To this
plain home on a side street of the city there came during those
years scholars from all parts of America and others from across
the seas, some merely to visit the library and see its treasures,
others to work among its rare and valued stores. Had a
visitors’ register been kept it would have been a revelation of
the widespread interest which this collection of books excited.

- It was a common remark in Stratford, and one which Dr.
Barnett himself would repeat with a smile,. that the books
held up the house. There was a measure of truth in thest ate-
ment. Entering the hallway and turning to the front room

‘on the left one might see on every wall, in rows that were

sometimes two and three deep, the collection of books by and
about Shakespeare which was, in a special sense, the particular
pride of its owner, There were over 1,500 bound volumes
alone relating to the great dramatist, including many rarities
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that would excite the envy of book collectors. In the dining
room were collections of history and biography. In the front
room on the right of the entrance were books on art, architecture
and allied fields and over one thousand large envelopes of
carefully classified material of an unbound character.. The
large room immediately to the rear contained the Canadiana
and Americana, while “in a dark corner,” as the owner some-
times said, was theology.

John Davis Barnett was born in London, England, in
December, 1849, and died at London, Ont., in March, 1927.
He came to Canada in 1866 as an apprentice in the old Grand
Trunk shops at Montreal. Having acquired some knowledge
of draughting before he left England he very soon moved into
this branch and there laid the foundation for his subsequent
railroad activities. He was a studious young man, reading
widely and keeping his mathematics well in hand. He made
extensive notes on his reading and many of these were pre-
served in his library. As time went on more important work
was assigned him and in Stratford he was over a considerable
number of years in charge of the locomotive shops. As a
citizen of Stratford he took a deep interest in public affairs.
He was for 21 years a member of the Stratford Public Library
Board and for many years also a member of the Water Com-.
mission. In an address which was presented to him by the
Public Library Board at the time of his removal to London
reference is made to the fact that after being at the head of
the old G. T. R. Library Institute he was influential in the
yvear 1896 in organizing the Free Public Library and became
a leader in its work.

The beginnings of the great library which he collected
are to be found in the few books which the boy of 16 brought
to Canada in 1866. Among them was a single volume edition
of Shakespeare given to him at his departure from England
by an uncle. This may be regarded as the beginning of the
Shakespearean collection which in the end amounted to over
1,500 volumes. Much might be told about the amassing of
the library. It is safe to say that books came to it from a
majority of the cities, towns and perhaps even the villages
of Ontario, as well as from Quebec and from the United States.
While in active railroading the large amount of travel involved
in his occupation gave opportunity to visit bookshops and
second-hand stores everywhere. Sometimes it was but a single
volume of a small pamphlet that might be secured. At other
times whole shelves of books would be secured at one time
for the collection. In his later years a pass furnished by the
Grand Trunk enabled him to continue his book-hunting ex-
peditions on an even larger scale and this filled up no small
part of his time.
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There was something of the poet and much of the philosopher .

in Dr. Barnett. He had thought deeply upon the great things
of life and his thinking reflected itself in his talk. He loved
to take long walks by himself and many an older Stratford
resident will recall the vigorous swinging stride of the man.
He was no recluse, however. His friends were legion, both
men and women, and scattered all over the province. He
would accept an invitation to dinner in Toronto with as little
concern as if it were in Stratford and there were cultured homes
in almost every city in Ontario in which John Davis Barnett
was a welcomed guest.

During his residence in Stratford Dr. Barnett was a
frequent contributor to the columns of The Herald, of which
his close friend Mr. W. S. Dingman, was editor and proprietor.
In scores of issues might be found notes and reviews of new
books that were being added at the Public Library. In addi-
tion to this large amount of occasional newspaper writing he
also made distinct contributions to engineering science through
the engineering journals and in his later days did some valuable
work in Canadian history, his papers appearing in the publica-
tions of the Ontario Historical Society. One very valuable
contribution of this nature was his descriptive bibliography
of the narratives of the political prisoners exiled to Van
Dieman’s Land in 1838. Of the larger number of these narra-
tives he had copies in his own library and the others he traced
through the larger libraries of this continent.

From the time of his removal to London in the autumn
of 1918 Dr. Barnett entered with great enjoyment into the
life of the University. He enjoyed particularly the friend-
ship of the late S. J. Radcliffe, at that time principal of the
Toronto Normal School and a former resident of Stratford.
He was a member of the chief literary society in London and
took part in one or more dramatic performances in which his
age and physical appearance fitted him for a part. He attended
student functions with great enjoyment, recalling perhaps

that in his own youth he was said to have been one of the .

most graceful dancers in Stratford. One of his great friends
in London was a young student in the University, Will J.
Hodder, now in business life in Toronto. Hodder had an
extraordinary range of knowledge for his age and was a lively
talker. Many an hour the young student and the older man
spent together. His days were filled with activity. There
was constant sorting and clissifying of the book collections
to be carried on, there were constant additions being made
and to the library in its new quarters at the University there
came a constant stream of visitors who were shown its treasures.
When the Provincial Commission on University Finances

293




came to London its members, who included the late Sir John
Willison and Canon Cody, could scarcely be drawn away from
the library with all its fascination.

The last two or three years of Dr. Barnett's life were
darkened by a severe illness, which he bore with a fine
philosophy. When death came at London in the spring of 1926
men came from all over the province to pay their- tribute.
The funeral service was read by the late Archbishop of Huron,
Rt. Rev. David Williams, who had been a fellow-citizen in
Stratford in days gone by. As the assembly gathered for the
service a daughter of one of the University professors seated
at the organ played the sweet, fresh music of Mendelssohn'’s
“Spring Song.” = Was such music ever before played at a
funeral? But could anything be more suited to the close of
such a life? Those who knew John Davis Barnett in the flesh
would agree that the spirit of spring stayed in his life, though
in years he was in the sere and yellow autumn.

By Prof. Fred Landon.

Dr. Barnett was for years more or less associated with
the Waterloo Historical Society, attended its meetings when
he could and donated a number of valuable museum items,
especially transportation exhibits. We are glad to give his
biography (reprinted from the Centennial Number of the
Stratford Beacon-Herald) place in our transactions.

Editors.
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